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1                            PROCEEDING

2           JUDGE ALBERS:  By the authority invested in

3 me by the Illinois Commerce Commission, I'll call

4 Docket No. 13-0301.  This docket concerns the Ameren

5 Illinois Company and MAP-P Annual Update Filing.  May

6 we have the appearances for the record, please?

7           MR. STURTEVANT:  Good morning, Your Honor.

8 Appearing on behalf of Ameren Illinois Company, Albert

9 Sturtevant and Christopher Kennedy of Whitt

10 Sturtevant, LLP, 180 North LaSalle Street, Suite 2001,

11 Chicago, Illinois, 60601.  The phone number is (312)

12 251-3017.

13           Appearing on behalf of the Staff witnesses

14 of the Illinois Commerce Commission, Kimberly Swan,

15 Michael Lannon and James Olivero, and our address and

16 phone number is the same as what was provided in the

17 record yesterday.

18           MR. DOSHI:  Your Honor, appearing on behalf

19 of the People of the State of Illinois by and through

20 the Attorney General, Sameer H. Doshi.  I previously

21 provided the correct spelling of my name to the court

22 reporter.  And Susan L. Satter, and our contact

23 information was previously given.

24           JUDGE ALBERS:  Would anyone over the phone

25 like to enter an appearance?  Okay.  Any others?
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1           MR. RANKIN:  Andrew Rankin with IIEC.

2           JUDGE ALBERS:  Would you spell your last

3 name, please?

4           MR. RANKIN:  R-A-N-K-I-N.

5           JUDGE ALBERS:  Thank you.  Let the record

6 reflect there's no other wishing to enter an

7 appearance.  This is Day 2 of our evidentiary hearing.

8 I'm not aware of any of preliminary matters, but if

9 anybody else has some, please go ahead and raise them.

10 Before we get started with the first witness, I'll

11 just remind you all to speak into your microphones.

12 And from the e-mail I received, it looks like cross

13 has been waived for Ms. Pearce and Mr. Brosch, so that

14 leaves Mr. Stafford as our only witness today, at

15 least as far as substantive cross.  So with that, we

16 will go ahead and have Mr. Stafford get on the stand.

17           JUDGE ALBERS:  I'll swear --

18           JUDGE YODER:  Are we going to put Ms. Pearce

19 on the stand and put her testimony in?

20           MR. LANNON:  Yes.  I believe she's available

21 for questions.

22           JUDGE YODER:  We'll go ahead and swear her

23 at the same time.

24

25
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1               (Bonita Pearce and Ronald Stafford,

2 were sworn to tell the truth.)

3           MR. STURTEVANT:  Good morning, Your Honor.

4                         RONALD STAFFORD

5 Having been previous duly sworn, testified as follows:

6                   CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION

7 QUESTIONS BY MR. STURTEVANT:

8      Q.   Good morning, Mr. Stafford.  Mr. Stafford,

9 can you state your full name and business address for

10 the record, please?

11      A.   I'm Ronald D. Stafford.  My business address

12 is 1901 Chouteau Avenue, St. Louis, Missouri.

13      Q.   And by whom are you employed?

14      A.   Ameren Illinois.

15      Q.   And what is your position with Ameren

16 Illinois?

17      A.   Director of Regulatory Accounting.

18      Q.   Mr. Stafford, I have what is marked, and I'm

19 going to address your direct and supplemental direct

20 testimony together.  I have what is marked as Ameren

21 Exhibit 1.0, which is the direct testimony of Ronald

22 B. Stafford.  Ameren Exhibit 1.0S, which is the

23 supplemental direct testimony of Ronald B. Stafford

24 and accompanying exhibits, Ameren Exhibits 1.1, 1.2,

25 1.3R, 1.4R, 1.5 through 1.9 and 1.10, and I would just
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1 note from the exhibit list for Your Honor that 1.3R

2 and 1.4R in the supplemental superseded 1.3 and 1.4,

3 so we're moving the 1.3R and 1.4R into the record.

4           Mr. Stafford, did you prepare or direct the

5 preparation of this direct testimony and supplemental

6 direct testimony?

7      A.   Yes.

8      Q.   And if I were to ask you the questions

9 contained in your direct and supplemental direct

10 testimony today, would your answers be the same?

11      A.   Yes, they would.

12      Q.   And is the information contained in your

13 direct testimony, supplemental direct testimony and

14 accompanying exhibits true and correct to the best of

15 your knowledge and belief?

16      A.   Yes, they are.

17      Q.   Next, Mr. Stafford, I have what has been

18 marked as Ameren Exhibit 9.0, Revised, the revised

19 rebuttal testimony of Ronald B. Stafford of supporting

20 exhibits, Ameren Exhibits 9.1 through 9.7 and 9.8.

21 9.8 is in confidential and public versions.

22           Mr. Stafford, did you prepare and direct the

23 preparation of this revised rebuttal testimony?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   And if I were to ask you today the questions
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1 contained in your revised rebuttal testimony, would

2 your answers be the same?

3      A.   Yes, they would.

4      Q.   And is the information contained in your

5 revised rebuttal testimony and accompanying exhibits

6 true and correct to the best of your knowledge and

7 belief?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Finally, Mr. Stafford, I have what has been

10 marked as Ameren Exhibit 18.08, Second Revised.  I

11 would note for the Administrative Law Judges that the

12 second revised will reflect your ruling on the Staff

13 Motion to Strike, and I believe it will be filed on

14 e-Docket today.  And accompanying exhibits, Ameren

15 Exhibits 18.1 through 18.5 and 18.7 and 18.8.

16           Mr. Stafford, did you prepare or direct the

17 preparation of your second revised surrebuttal

18 testimony?

19      A.   Yes.

20      Q.   If I were to ask you the questions contained

21 in your second revised surrebuttal testimony, would

22 your answers be the same?

23      A.   Yes, they would.

24      Q.   And is the information contained in your

25 second revised surrebuttal testimony and accompanying
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1 exhibits true and correct to the best of your

2 knowledge and belief?

3      A.   Yes.

4           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, at this time,

5 we would move for the admission of Mr. Stafford's

6 testimony and exhibits as previously identified and

7 tender him for cross examination.

8           JUDGE ALBERS:  Thank you.  One quick

9 question.  Did you mention 1.10?

10           MR. STURTEVANT:  Yes.

11           JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  Thank you.

12           MR. OLIVERO:  Actually, could I ask a

13 clarification?  Did you indicate there was an 18.6?

14           MR. STURTEVANT:  No.  That was stricken, I

15 believe, per the ruling and motion.

16           JUDGE ALBERS:  We'll address the

17 admissibility following cross examination.  So who

18 would like to go first?

19           MR. OLIVERO:  Actually, Staff -- I'm going

20 to be doing part of it, and then Mr. Lannon is going

21 to be doing part related to, I think the --

22           MR. LANNON:  Purchase accounting.

23           JUDGE ALBERS:  And I understand previously

24 that the Company has no objection to that --

25           MR. STURTEVANT:  That's fine with us.
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1           MR. OLIVERO:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And,

2 actually, for some housekeeping, in lieu of some of

3 the cross for Mr. Stafford, the Company and Staff has

4 agreed to the entry of into the evidentiary record of,

5 first of all, ICC Staff Cross Exhibit No. 4, which is

6 the Data Request Responses to TEE-13.05 and 06.  And

7 then the other Data Request Response that the parties

8 have agreed to enter into the evidentiary record is

9 identified as ICC Staff Cross Exhibit No. 5, which is

10 TEE-18.01, which is a Data Request Response filed by

11 Mr. Stafford and, I believe, Mr. Jones.

12           JUDGE ALBERS:  Did you say 18.01?

13           MR. OLIVERO:  01, correct.

14                        CROSS EXAMINATION

15 QUESTIONS BY MR. OLIVERO:

16      Q.   Good morning, Mr. Stafford.  My name is Jim

17 Olivero, and on behalf of Staff, I would like to

18 actually start by asking you some questions related to

19 accrued vacation reserves.

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   I'd like to refer to your rebuttal

22 testimony, Ameren Exhibit 9, Revised, on Page 47, I

23 believe, Lines 1063 through 1065.  Are you there?

24      A.   I have that.

25      Q.   You state that it should be noted although
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1 accrued vacation is expensed or capitalized on AIC's

2 financials, before payments are made, these costs are

3 not included in the rates until after they are paid.

4 Just so we understand, when vacation is earned, the

5 company records the accrued vacation pay as a credit

6 to a liability account for the accrual and records the

7 debt to either payroll expense or capitalized payroll

8 as the offset; is that correct?

9      A.   That's correct.

10      Q.   Is it correct that the company recorded

11 accrued vacation pay in 2012?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   And so the company recorded a credit to

14 accrued vacation pay and a debit to payroll expense

15 and/or a capital or planned account?

16      A.   Correct.

17      Q.   And regarding the payroll expense recorded

18 for the accrued vacation pay, where is the expense

19 reflected in the Company's formula rate filed?

20      A.   The expense would follow the work performed

21 by individual employees.  The employees would charge

22 to various operating accounts, so payroll expense

23 could show up, for example, in Account 920.  And

24 G (phonetic) labor could show up in Account 580, which

25 is a distribution labor account.  There's a number of
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1 other accounts that the expense could show up in

2 within the formula rate cost.

3      Q.   Did the company, in its formula rate filing,

4 make an adjustment to remove the vacation accrual from

5 payroll expense?

6      A.   No.

7      Q.   Now I'd like to ask you a question or two

8 about ADIT for Metro East asset transfer.  I'm going

9 to refer to your surrebuttal testimony, Page 21, Lines

10 426 and 437.  This is regarding staff and AG's

11 adjustment to remove the step-up ADIT amount.  You

12 state, "Their claims are based on recognition of rate

13 based value at the time of the transfer in 2005;" is

14 that correct?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   And is it your belief that Staff and the

17 Attorney General's proposed adjustment is to remove

18 the amount that was recorded since the step-up to ADIT

19 in 2005?

20      A.   No.  The -- my understanding is that Staff

21 and AG proposed to make the adjustment based on the

22 2012 values.

23      Q.   Thank you.

24      A.   My statement here referred more to the fact

25 that quite a bit of discovery asked for information



184

1 related to the Metro East transfer in 2005.  And, for

2 example, Mr. Ostrander relied for one of his

3 statements of testimony on the fact that at the time

4 of the transfer, rate base increased.

5      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to move to

6 another topic.  I'm going to refer you to your

7 surrebuttal testimony again, Pages 9 and 10, if you

8 would, please.

9           On those pages there, generally, you discuss

10 Ms. Ebrey's proposal to update the supply cost

11 adjustment factors underwriter PDR.  Do you agree that

12 the company did make a tariff filing on Friday,

13 September 13th, to allow those factors to be updated

14 within a formula rate proceeding?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   And then did you prepare -- help prepare the

17 Data Request Response which we identified as ICC Cross

18 Exhibit No. 5 that provided updates to the supply cost

19 factor, cost adjustment factors in this proceeding,

20 provided that the tariff provision filed on Friday

21 went into effect?

22      A.   Yes.  I believe you're referring to the

23 response to TEE 18.01.

24      Q.   18.01, correct, and with the attachments?

25      A.   Correct.
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1      Q.   Again, we are going to shift gears.  I'm

2 going to ask you about the -- when you referred to the

3 formula rate template generally in your testimony,

4 would it be correct that you were referring to the

5 format of the schedules that you filed in this case?

6      A.   I refer to the exhibits that I would have

7 filed that would have populated formula template for

8 Ameren Illinois' revenue requirement.

9      Q.   Would those be like Schedule 18.1?

10      A.   Yes.  18.1 and also Exhibit 18.3 were filed

11 as part of my surrebuttal.

12      Q.   Now, you have a copy of ICC Staff Cross

13 Exhibit 4, which is your responses to TEE 13.5 and

14 13.6?

15      A.   I have that.

16      Q.   In referring to your response on 13.06, you

17 generally indicate that changes to the inputs to the

18 template can be supported by Work Papers 1 through 22

19 for adjustments to both the filing year and

20 reconciliation year's revenue requirements; is that

21 correct?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   So that -- by that, do you agree that any

24 adjustments the Commission approves could be included

25 in work papers to the formula template?
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1      A.   Yes, to the extent that the template can

2 accommodate such adjustments.

3           MR. OLIVERO:  Your Honor, could I move to

4 strike everything after the "yes"?  Because I think I

5 was just asking whether they could or couldn't.

6           JUDGE ALBERS:  Motion to strike is granted.

7      Q.   (By Mr. Olivero) Do you know, has the

8 company made changes to certain work papers in this

9 case to reflect adjustments that the company agrees

10 with?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   And would you agree with me that, for

13 example, Ameren Exhibit 1.4R, Ameren Exhibit 9.2 and

14 Ameren Exhibits 18.2 and 18.4 show how the work papers

15 identified by Ameren have changed during the course of

16 your testimony in this case?

17      A.   Yes, I agree with that.

18      Q.   And, again, for a couple of these questions

19 here, I guess I'm going to make reference to each of

20 those exhibits that I just identified for you, the

21 1.4R, the 9.2 and the 18.2 and 18.4.  Okay?  And you

22 have those with you, correct?

23      A.   I do.

24      Q.   I'm going to ask you to turn to Ameren

25 Exhibit 1.4R on the very first page.
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1      A.   I have that.

2      Q.   For the purpose of a couple of these

3 questions, I'm just going to focus on Work Paper 18,

4 which is the projected plant addition.  Would you

5 agree that there are -- and, again, without counting

6 them, 25 separate schedules that make up the WP18 on

7 that first page there, if you trust my counts?

8      A.   I would agree there are a large number of

9 sketches.

10      Q.   And then if we turn to Ameren Exhibit 9.2,

11 again, the first page of the Work Paper Table of

12 Contents, nothing is listed for Work Paper 18; is that

13 correct?

14      A.   That's correct.

15      Q.   And then I'm going to go ask you to turn to

16 Ameren Exhibit 18.4, the first page, again, which is

17 the Work Paper Table of Contents.  And would you agree

18 that WP18 identifies five different schedules,

19 correct?

20      A.   Correct.

21      Q.   Just so I'm clear, if the tariff filing

22 Ameren made on August 19, that has been docketed as

23 Docket No. 13-0517 is approved, then is it correct

24 that there would be 30 separate schedules that would

25 make up WP18?
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1      A.   I didn't count the number of schedules from

2 the original 1.4R.  The number of additional schedules

3 would be this group here, so, yes, I would say 25 to

4 30 schedules.  There are some of these schedules that

5 would have the same schedule name as what was listed

6 in 1.4R, so to the extent you see the same schedule

7 name, again, such as C2.23, it reflects the same

8 schedules before, with additional adjustments, so I

9 wouldn't necessarily count that schedule twice.

10      Q.   Right, as a new schedule, but 25 or more, I

11 guess, in total.

12      A.   Correct.

13      Q.   Are you generally familiar with the pages in

14 the rate MAP-P Modernization Action Plan Pricing

15 Tariff?

16      A.   Yes.

17      Q.   Is there any limitation on what is included

18 in those work papers listed on Sheet 16.006 of the

19 rate MAP-P tariffs?

20      A.   Could you repeat the question?

21      Q.   Is there any limitation on what is included

22 in those work papers listed on Sheet 16.006 of the MAP

23 or rate MAP tariffs?

24           MR. STURTEVANT:  I'm going to object as to

25 vague as to what's meant by limitation.
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1           MR. OLIVERO:  Okay.  Let me just clarify it.

2      Q.   (By Mr. Olivero) Is there anywhere in either

3 16.005 or 16.006 that seems to limit what work papers

4 may be included in there, other than those that are

5 specifically identified?

6      A.   I don't believe there's specific limitation

7 from the number of work papers.  The tariff, as

8 approved, has a set and defined list of work papers.

9      Q.   Okay.  Then I guess I just want to clarify.

10 Is there any limit to the number of schedules that

11 could be included within, for example, the WP18 when

12 we were discussing the 25 to 30?  I mean, there could

13 be 10, or there could be 40 or 50, depending on the

14 schedules that need to be adjusted or filed?

15      A.   I would agree there's not a defined limit

16 with the number of schedules.

17      Q.   Thank you.  Now, if you wouldn't mind

18 turning to Ameren Exhibit 18.4 again.  On that first

19 page of the Work Paper, Table of Contents, would you

20 agree that it appears to indicate that for WP18, it

21 supports, for example, AP1, Schedule FRC1 and Schedule

22 FRC2, correct?

23      A.   That's correct.

24      Q.   And is there a way to determine which of the

25 30, or let's say 25 to 30 different schedules supports
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1 the amounts on AP1 and the FR schedules?

2      A.   The most logical way to do that is for the

3 reviewer working with a live version of the template

4 to see the actual inputs within the template that are

5 defined, the inputs within F1, Schedule FRB1, Schedule

6 FRC2 that actually point to Work Paper 18 as the

7 source for the information.  And the reviewer can see

8 within the cell, if they are reviewing a live version

9 of the Excel file, what numbers are input into that

10 cell and cross-reference those back to this work

11 paper, so there definitely is a way to do that.  I'm

12 not saying it can't be improved.  We've been trying to

13 work with Staff during this proceeding to improve and

14 provide more transparency in this information, and

15 we'll continue to try to do that in future

16 proceedings.

17      Q.   Okay.  Let me switch you for a moment to

18 Ameren Exhibit 18.3, if you would, please.  I'm going

19 to refer you to Schedule C2, which is depreciation and

20 amortization expense computation of Page 10 of 30.

21 Are you there?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   Line 8A, depreciation rate changes, it

24 indicates as its source WP18; is that correct?

25      A.   Correct.
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1      Q.   And can you tell me, or can you tell us

2 which schedule from WP18 would one be able to find the

3 number of dollar values, the 10,930, the 5,084 and the

4 $1,906?

5      A.   Sure.  Well, it looks like from a review of

6 the schedule, that the way we set up the work paper is

7 we relied on Staff Schedules 7.05, so as a point of

8 reference, I'm looking at Ameren Exhibit 18.4, Work

9 Paper 18, Page 18 of 27.

10      Q.   Okay.  Eighteen of 27.

11      A.   And there's a Column N, Depreciation Expense

12 Adjustment, that totals 15,800 on the schedule, and it

13 has a reference to Staff Schedule 7.05 as the source,

14 and that source, Staff Schedule 7.05, is the source

15 for the inputs that are shown on Schedule 8A or Line

16 8A of Exhibit 18.3.  And I realize that's not entirely

17 clear from looking at the work Paper.  Obviously, the

18 reader would have to go back to Staff Schedule 7.05 to

19 see those inputs.

20      Q.   Just for my point of clarification, I guess

21 on the 15,800, and then you've got the reference to

22 Staff Schedule 7.05, my quick calculation indicates

23 that the numbers are over.  It's approximately 11,000,

24 plus 5 and 16 plus 2 is like 18,000.  I'm not sure how

25 that corresponds to 15,800.
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1      A.   The inputs are prior to the application of

2 the asset separation project allocator that's

3 applicable to Columns D and E and Ameren Exhibit 18.3,

4 Schedule FRC2.  So the information shown here is after

5 that application.  Essentially, the ASP allocator

6 determines what portion of general and tangible plant

7 is allocated to the electric distribution business.

8 So the amount that would correspond to that would be

9 the 10,930 from Schedule FRC2 plus the Columns D and

10 E, general and tangible plant after allocation of the

11 ESP.  And the information that was provided on Staff

12 Schedule 7.05 is after allocation of the ESP.  The

13 formula within the template, we need to show the

14 general and tangible plant before allocation and

15 multiply it by the SP allocator to derive the correct

16 amount.

17      Q.   Mr. Stafford, actually, I'd like to pose a

18 hypothetical to you.  Let's suppose that the

19 Commission accepted an adjustment and reflected that

20 change on the appropriate work Paper as identified in

21 Tariff Sheet 16.0064.  For example, like Work Paper

22 18.  And then the Commission included in the appendix

23 to the final order the populated formula rate template

24 as recommended by Company Witness Mill.

25           Can you tell us, how would the parties be
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1 able to tell what adjustments were approved by the

2 Commission and where those adjustments would be

3 reflected in the populated rates template?

4      A.   The adjustment would be, if it's an

5 operating expense, generally speaking, there's a

6 defined appendix for those AP7.  In this case, we are

7 referring to a depreciation rate adjustment, so

8 there's a defined work paper for that type of

9 adjustment.  So to the extent the adjustment fit

10 within the approved formal rate template and was

11 assigned to the correct work paper, then it would be a

12 matter of determining where that input for that work

13 paper fits within the template.  And as I indicate,

14 generally speaking, there's -- the work papers apply

15 in many cases to one appendix for one schedule.  In

16 the case of Work Paper 18, obviously, because it's

17 plant-related, it impacts more than one schedule.

18 It's dependent in part on what the adjustment is, what

19 type of adjustment, whether -- what work paper it is

20 associated with.

21      Q.   Mr. Stafford, did you prepare or help

22 prepare or assist in the compliance filing that was

23 made by Ameren in Docket 120293 on December 11, 2012?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   You don't happen to have a copy with you; do
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1 you?

2      A.   No.

3      Q.   Let me ask you some questions.  If you don't

4 remember, then I've got a copy I can let you look at.

5 Would you agree that the revenue requirement schedules

6 that were provided with the compliance filing included

7 Schedules FRA1, FRA1 REC (phonetic), which was blank,

8 FRA2, FRA3, which was blank; FRA4, which was blank;

9 FRB1; FRC1; FRC2; FRC3 and A; and FRC4; FRD1; FRD2 and

10 APs 1 through 11?

11      A.   I would agree with that.

12      Q.   And isn't it correct that no work papers

13 were provided that supported the amounts that

14 reported -- were purported to have supported any of

15 the amounts on those schedules?

16      A.   I don't recall if there were any provided to

17 staff informally.

18      Q.   But I'm talking about what was filed, I

19 guess, with the order?

20      A.   I don't know for sure.

21      Q.   Well, let me ask you this.  Subject to

22 check, would you agree that the work papers were not

23 filed with the compliance filing?

24           MR. STURTEVANT:  Objection, asked and

25 answered.



195

1           MR. OLIVERO:  Well, he said he was generally

2 familiar with the filing of that.

3           MR. STURTEVANT:  He just said he didn't know

4 whether there were work papers provided or not.  If he

5 didn't know, he can't accept.  It's subject to checks.

6           MR. OLIVERO:  Well, if he assisted in filing

7 it, I --

8            JUDGE ALBERS:  Overruled.

9      A.   I don't know for sure.  I do know that Staff

10 would have received copies of the template as

11 populated the surrebuttal stage of the proceeding and

12 at the initial brief stage of the proceeding.  To the

13 extent there were any additional adjustments beyond

14 the Company's position and its initial brief, Staff

15 would have been aware of what those adjustments were

16 and, I believe, would have had a reasonable likelihood

17 of understanding where those adjustments would have

18 been and incorporated into the compliance filing.

19           All we really are talking about here is the

20 difference between our brief template and the

21 compliance filing, and that just incorporates any

22 commission over the adjustments that were not

23 reflected in the Company's initial brief version of

24 its template and work papers.

25      Q.   Do you know, did the Commission approve any
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1 adjustments in that case that were not proposed by

2 Ameren?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   And can you tell us how any of the parties

5 would be able to identify what those adjustments were

6 or how they were presented in the compliance filing?

7      A.   The review of the live version of the

8 template would indicate that there were incremental

9 adjustments.  For example, to AP7 for operating

10 expense adjustment, the Commission approved.  The

11 company was not opposing.  Staff would have had a live

12 version of that template and could have asked

13 questions of the company.  Another example was the

14 capital structure the company proposed was not

15 approved.  That can be seen directly on FRD1.  It's

16 very clear to the reader that a different capital

17 structure, you know, result, as shown on Schedule FRD1

18 versus what the company was proposing in its initial

19 brief.  Those are a couple of examples.

20           MR. OLIVERO:  We have no further questions

21 of Mr. Stafford, at least for my portion.

22           MR. LANNON:  Can I have one minute?

23                        CROSS EXAMINATION

24 QUESTIONS BY MR. LANNON:

25      Q.   Hello, Mr. Stafford.  How are you?
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1      A.   Very good.  Thank you.

2      Q.   I'm Mike Lannon, as you know, and I

3 represent Staff.  If I could have a second.  I'm sorry

4 for some last-minute changes here.  I'm going to ask

5 you about some questions about the subject, purchase

6 account.

7      A.   That's fine.

8      Q.   And is it fair to say that purchase

9 accounting restates the value of the AIC assets and

10 liabilities to fair value at the time AIC acquired --

11 I believe it was what's known as CIPS and Illinois

12 Power; is that right?

13      A.   For Ameren Illinois, we stated the value for

14 CILCO and Illinois Power.

15      Q.   Oh, CILCO.  I knew I was somewhat off there.

16 Could you just explain to me, so I can ask better

17 questions, just exactly what that means?

18      A.   Well that means that at the time of the

19 transaction, the fair value of assets and liabilities

20 on IP's balance sheet were -- are different than their

21 book value, and the assets and liabilities are

22 restated to their fair value at that point.  That

23 creates a difference in the fair value versus book

24 value that leads to recording of purchase accounting

25 related to the transaction.
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1      Q.   Where does the purchase price of CILCO and

2 Illinois Power come into play there?

3      A.   The purchase price deals with the cash or

4 other consideration provided by Ameren to acquire

5 CILCO or IP, and that -- the difference then between

6 the purchase price and the fair value is recorded as

7 goodwill.

8      Q.   Okay.  I'm trying to understand that.  So

9 the purchase price in this case would have been larger

10 than the fair value of AIC's assets; is that correct?

11      A.   Yes.

12      Q.   And that difference, that larger amount, is

13 called goodwill?

14      A.   Yes.  Goodwill is part of the purchase

15 accounting transaction.  The entire transactions are

16 to restate the book value to be equal to purchase

17 price as a regulated utility, and Ameren Illinois has

18 its rate base and capital structure based on book

19 value, not fair value, so the difference is captured

20 within goodwill and purchase accounting, and so the

21 combination of transactions to record the acquisition

22 impact both goodwill and various purchase accounting,

23 purchase -- various accounts for the impact of fair

24 value versus book value.

25      Q.   Okay.  I am going to provide you with the
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1 veritable soapbox right now and ask you an open-ended

2 question.  Can you explain to me, because I haven't

3 been able to follow it, why AIC net income-related

4 purchase accounting adjustments were not collapsed

5 into ICC Account 114?

6      A.   Well, the net income purchase accounting

7 adjustments are on a separate financial statement from

8 Account 114.  Account 114 has a balance sheet account,

9 and when you're looking at balance sheet accounts, you

10 can collapse balance sheet accounts together.  I'm not

11 sure there's any way, from an accounting standpoint,

12 to collapse income statement balances into a balance

13 sheet account, so the recording of net income purchase

14 accounting, since it's income statement-related, is

15 not collapsed into Account 114, so it's not a balance

16 sheet account-related, but rather is eliminated for

17 rate-making purposes to comply with the order in

18 040294.

19      Q.   Thank you.  You're familiar with the

20 Commission's order in 04294, correct?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   And that's where the Commission -- I don't

23 want to misstate that.  That's where the Commission

24 ordered or required the company to reverse the effects

25 of purchase accounting for rate-making purposes and
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1 reflect an account in Illinois' ICC Account 114 the

2 impacts of all pushed-down accounting for all Illinois

3 regulatory purposes, correct?

4      A.   Correct.

5      Q.   And that directive to the company, based on

6 your professional opinion, would that violate

7 accounting principles?

8      A.   I don't feel it's a violation of accounting

9 principles because it was a regulatory requirement

10 imposed by the Commission, and the Commission

11 certainly has the discretion to impose regulatory

12 requirements on the company.

13      Q.   Okay.  To the best of your knowledge, I

14 think you've just said it wouldn't violate.  Would it

15 be consistent with accounting principles?

16      A.   Well, accounting for the goodwill, the

17 purchase accounting is to be handled different for

18 FERC Form 1, and that's more in compliance with what I

19 would say accounting, and that is that purchase

20 accounting is recording in various accounts, and the

21 Commission required us to, for Illinois regulatory

22 purposes, to collapse that purchase accounting into

23 Account 114, and we complied with that by --

24      Q.   I know you've complied, according to your

25 position, but is there anything --
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1           MR. STURTEVANT:  I'm sorry, Your Honor, but

2 can the witness finish his answer?

3           MR. LANNON:  They go way beyond the

4 question.

5           JUDGE ALBERS:  What is part of the dispute

6 here is whether they complied or not, so we will let

7 that question remain open.  That's their position.

8           MR. STURTEVANT:  Right.  I just believe

9 Counsel cut the witness off before he finished his

10 answer.

11           JUDGE ALBERS:  Well, if there's more to say

12 after that, you can do it on redirect.

13           MR. LANNON:  Thank you.

14      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) My question was, there is

15 nothing inconsistent with the Commission ordering that

16 regulatory directive; was there?  Excuse me.  Let me

17 rephrase.

18           There's nothing inconsistent with accounting

19 principles in that requirement, correct?

20      A.   Well, as I stated, the accounting would

21 record purchase accounting to individual accounts.  I

22 view the Commission's directive as a regulatory

23 requirement.  I'm not really in a position to say

24 whether that's inconsistent with accounting

25 principles.  I've indicated that accounting is
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1 different.

2      Q.   But there's nothing inconsistent, whether

3 it's different than a regulatory directive or

4 principle that an accounting guideline -- there's

5 nothing inconsistent with accounting guidelines in

6 what the Commission ordered, correct?

7           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm going to

8 object as asked and answered.  I think the witness has

9 explained that it's something completely separate.

10 You have accounting principles and regulatory

11 principles.  I think he's answered that.

12           MR. LANNON:  Well, he's informed us that

13 there are different accounting principles and

14 regulatory principles.  He has not answered whether

15 there's anything inconsistent between those two.  He's

16 explained the difference, but I'm just looking for a

17 yes or no on consistency.

18           JUDGE ALBERS:  The objection is overruled.

19      A.   I would say that the Commission's

20 requirement was a regulatory requirement rather than

21 an accounting requirement, so I don't view it as being

22 inconsistent with accounting requirements for the

23 Commission to order the company to report something

24 different in Form 21 than it does on the financial

25 statement.



203

1      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) And I believe that was yes,

2 there's nothing inconsistent.  Could I summarize it

3 like that?

4      A.   I don't know that I would say yes.

5      Q.   Okay.  That's fine.  That's fine.  I'll move

6 on.  Okay.  Can we turn to your surrebuttal now?

7 Let's see, Page 55.  And let's look at Line 1131.  And

8 there, you state, "As Ms. Phipps has once again raised

9 the issue of a proper accounting adjustments necessary

10 to remove the effects of purchase accounting, I have

11 reviewed the calculation again to make sure that the

12 calculation presented by the company comports with the

13 accounting guidance applicable to the company."

14           Did I read that right?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   Okay.  And when you referred to the

17 calculation, the one you reviewed again, are you

18 referring to RMP1.03 attached to -- RMP is a DR, by

19 the way -- Staff DR RMP1.03, which is attached to Ms.

20 Phipps' rebuttal testimony as Attachment B?

21      A.   That's correct.

22      Q.   Looking at -- do you have Attachment B in

23 front of you?

24      A.   I do.

25      Q.   I'm sorry.  That's all I have on Attachment
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1 B.  But can you answer what account or what line item

2 would reflect net income-related purchase accounting?

3           MR. STURTEVANT:  I'm sorry.  Line item of

4 what?

5      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) Well, let's start with, say,

6 the FERC Form 1.

7      A.   I don't have the FERC Form 1 with me.

8           MR. LANNON:  We are looking at the Income

9 Statement from FERC Form 1.  I'm going to mark the

10 FERC Statement of Income, which is a two-page

11 document, as Staff Cross Exhibit 6.

12      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) And you have that in front

13 of you now; don't you, Mr. Stafford?

14      A.   I do.

15      Q.   And looking at this FERC Statement of

16 Income, what account or what line item would reflect

17 net income-related purchase accounting?

18           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm going to

19 object as to a lack of foundation.  He has not

20 established if the witness recognizes what this is.

21 Although it represents it to be a FERC statement, it

22 doesn't say that anywhere on the document, and so

23 there's no foundation this is what it purports to be.

24           MR. LANNON:  Well, okay.  Let me back up.

25      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) Mr. Stafford, do you
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1 recognize this as an Ameren Illinois Company Statement

2 of Income account from FERC Form 1?

3      A.   I see the reference to Ameren Illinois

4 Company.  I don't see any reference to the words FERC

5 Form 1 on here, so I can't verify that just from a

6 review of the document.

7      Q.   In your -- what are your duties for the

8 company?

9      A.   I file information for rate proceedings,

10 regulatory requirement reports.

11      Q.   Did you ever fill out FERC Form 1?

12      A.   I assist with FERC Form 1 and Form 21.  As I

13 indicated, I can't tell with certainty this is a page

14 from FERC Form 1, because I don't see that designation

15 on the schedule.

16      Q.   But it looks like what you're used to when

17 you're dealing with FERC Form 1s; doesn't it?

18      A.   It looks like that, but I can't tell.  I

19 can't verify that with certainty.

20      Q.   Let's just say, hypothetically, it's FERC

21 Form 1.  What account or what line item would reflect

22 net income-related purchase accounting on that form in

23 front of you if it is a FERC Form 1?

24           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm going to

25 object.  I mean, the witness has just said he can't
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1 confirm this is a FERC Form 1.  I'm not sure that it's

2 appropriate to then just assume it a way that it is

3 given that the witness says he can't confirm that it

4 is.

5           MR. LANNON:  Your Honor, I'll withdraw that

6 question.  I'd like to take administrative notice of

7 FERC Form 1 in its entirety, including the Statement

8 of Income and the Statement of Retained Earnings.

9           JUDGE ALBERS:  For Ameren Illinois Company,

10 I assume?

11           MR. LANNON:  For Ameren Illinois Company,

12 yes.

13           JUDGE ALBERS:  Any objection to that?

14           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I guess it

15 would be helpful to know which FERC Form 1 they wish

16 to take administrative notice of and to see a copy of

17 it before we agree to take administrative notice of

18 it, although I don't think we object in the general

19 matter to the taking of administrative notice of the

20 Company's publicly filed FERC Form 1s or similar types

21 of reports.

22           JUDGE ALBERS:  Let's figure out what you're

23 referring to, Mr. Lannon.

24           MR. LANNON:  For the Statement of Income, I

25 am referring to 2012 as the Staff Cross Exhibit 6
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1 mark-up in the upper right-hand corner, although it's

2 not entirely clear.  If you look at that closely, it

3 says 2012.  When I get to other cross exhibits, if

4 needed, which will be on Statement of Retained

5 Earnings, I'm going have a couple of years starting

6 with 2012 and going backwards.

7           JUDGE ALBERS:  2012 FERC Form 1 Statement of

8 Income and then the 2012 FERC Form 1 Statement of

9 Retained Earnings; is that what you said?

10           MR. LANNON:  Yes.  And for retained

11 earnings, I may go beyond 2012 or 2011, 2010, 2008,

12 all of which I have partial copies like I do for the

13 Statement of Income.

14           JUDGE ALBERS:  So 2008 through 2012?

15           MR. LANNON:  No '9.

16           JUDGE ALBERS:  Sorry.  2008, 2010, 2011.

17           MR. LANNON:  (Nodding head.)

18           JUDGE ALBERS:  And the 2012 Statement of

19 Retained Earnings.

20           MR. LANNON:  That's correct, Your Honor.

21           JUDGE ALBERS:  Now that that's clear,

22 Company response?

23           MR. STURTEVANT:  Let me make sure I have

24 them straight as well.  2008, 2010, 2011 and 2012

25 Statement of Retained Earnings and the 2012 Income
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1 Statement from the FERC Form 1?

2           JUDGE ALBERS:  That's my understanding.  Do

3 you agree, Mr. Lannon?

4           MR. LANNON:  Yes.

5           MR. STURTEVANT:  Would the intention be that

6 the appropriate pages would be filed in this docket?

7 I'm not suggesting that we burden the docket with an

8 entire FERC Form 1.  I'm not sure.  Is the procedure

9 simply to say administrative notice is taken?

10           JUDGE ALBERS:  I think I believe the FERC

11 Form 1s are on file in the Clerk's office.  I think

12 they have those as well.

13           MR. STURTEVANT:  That's fine, Your Honor.

14 If they're on file and we're taking notice of these

15 specific ones, I guess I would just ask for an

16 opportunity on redirect to potentially address any

17 issues related to that administrative notice.

18           JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  I've got to find out

19 if the FERC Form 1s --

20           JUDGE YODER:  Off the record.

21           (Whereupon an off-the-record discussion was

22 held.)

23           JUDGE ALBERS:  I think we have had this

24 straightened out now.  Mr. Lannon, you indicated off

25 the record that you would like to revise your motion
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1 to take administrative notice?

2           MR. LANNON:  Yes, sir.  Your Honor, I would

3 like to limit my Motion for Administrative Notice of

4 FERC Form 1 to only FERC Form 1 2012.

5           JUDGE ALBERS:  And the entire document?

6           MR. LANNON:  The entire document.

7           JUDGE ALBERS:  And then Judge Yoder found

8 that as part of the 285 filing in this case, and is

9 there any objection now on the record to the taking of

10 administrative notice of the 2012 AIC FERC Form 1 as

11 it has been filed on e-Docket with the 285 filing?

12           MR. STURTEVANT:  No objection, Your Honor.

13           JUDGE ALBERS:  That motion is granted, and

14 administrative notice is hereby taken of that filing

15 as it appears on the docket.

16           I think we can continue.

17           MR. LANNON:  Thank you, Your Honor.

18      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) Mr. Stafford, where would

19 the company book net income-related purchase

20 accounting adjustments?  I'm sorry, in the FERC Form 1

21 Statement of Income.

22      A.   The -- if I understand your question, you're

23 asking about any income related to purchase accounting

24 adjustments?  You had indicated a net income.

25      Q.   Net income.
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1      A.   Net income.  Well, net income itself is the

2 derivative effect of all other income-related purchase

3 accounting adjustments, and those adjustments could

4 hit any revenue or expense account within FERC Form 1.

5 It depends on the nature of the underlying entry

6 related to purchase accounting as to where it would

7 get recorded.

8      Q.   Let's try the other one.  Any income-related

9 purchase accounting?

10      A.   Any income-related purchase accounting?

11      Q.   Adjustments.

12      A.   As I indicated, those adjustments could be

13 recorded, if they're income statement-related rather

14 than balance sheet-related, they could be recorded in

15 any revenue or expense account, depending on the

16 nature the underlying entry was related to.  For

17 example, income tax expense-related purchase

18 accounting would be an income tax expense account.

19      Q.   And would those amounts then flow into the

20 total net income as reflected on Statement of Income

21 FERC Form 1 or Staff Cross Exhibit 6?

22      A.   As indicated, I haven't been able to verify

23 Staff Cross Exhibit 6 as FERC Form 1.  Generally

24 speaking, purchase accounting adjustment would flow

25 into net income on the Company's financial statements
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1 and in FERC Form 1, and there's no -- for financial

2 reporting under FERC Form 1, there's no separate

3 distinction between purchase accounting and

4 non-purchase accounting-related income.

5      Q.   Isn't it correct that net income would then

6 be entered into the Statement of Returned Earnings?

7      A.   Net income would be a result in an increase

8 in the Statement of Retained Earnings, and you would,

9 as I indicated in a formula on Ameren Exhibit 18.0,

10 Second Revised, you have the beginning balance for

11 retained earnings, and then you've got adjustments for

12 net income as an addition or subtraction, and then you

13 also have adjustments for dividends on preferred stock

14 and equity to derive your ending retained earnings

15 balance.

16      Q.   Okay.  Let's move on to -- or perhaps it's

17 let's go back to Page 55 of AIC Exhibit 18.0, your

18 surrebuttal testimony.  And it's Lines 1145, 1146 and

19 on to -- through 1149.  I believe you state FERC Form

20 1, Page 118 in Form 21, ILCC, both present the

21 calculation of unappropriated returned earnings

22 included in the balance sheet of the Company; is that

23 correct?

24      A.   Correct.

25      Q.   Okay.  I now am going to turn to FERC Form
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1 1, Statement of Retained Earnings, and may I approach

2 you, Your Honor?  And, Your Honor, at least for now,

3 I'd like to mark that as a two-page document, which is

4 from FERC Form 1, Page 118 and Page 119, AIC Statement

5 of Retained Earnings.  I'd like to mark that as Staff

6 Cross Exhibit 7.  And that's from the year 2012.  And

7 I also have a similar document, another two-page

8 document from the Illinois Form 21, dated

9 December 31st, 2012 of AIC companies, and it's also a

10 Statement of Retained Earnings, and I'd like to mark

11 that as Staff Cross Exhibit 8.

12           Please excuse my confusion with these

13 exhibits.  We were going to do it in a different way.

14      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) Could you look at Staff

15 Cross Exhibit 7, please?  And that's AIC's FERC Form

16 1.  Can you look at -- it's Page 118, and that's AIC

17 Statement of Retained Earnings, correct?

18      A.   Correct.

19      Q.   And could you look at what I passed out as

20 Staff Cross Exhibit 8, and that would be the Illinois

21 Form 21 or the annual report, and the two pages I gave

22 you would be Page 6 and 6A, which would be the AIC

23 Statement of Retained Earnings, correct?

24      A.   Correct.

25      Q.   And the numbers given for any year, for any
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1 given year, any specific year, on -- as presented in

2 the Statement of Retained Earnings for both the FERC

3 Form 1 and Form 21, Illinois Commerce Commission

4 Annual Report, those are identical; aren't they?

5      A.   The numbers are identical for 2012.  I can't

6 speak for every year since the start-up of the

7 Company.

8      Q.   That's okay.  We're only interested in 2012.

9 I'm surprised you can't, though.  Now, could you tell

10 me what would AIC's balance of common equity have been

11 on December 31, 2012 if AIC did not record any net

12 income-related purchase accounting?

13           MR. STURTEVANT:  Objection, calls for

14 speculation.

15           JUDGE ALBERS:  Sustained.

16      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) AIC did record net

17 income-related purchase accounting for December 31,

18 2012; did it not?

19      A.   AIC did record net income related to

20 purchase accounting in 2012.  That's correct.

21      Q.   Do you know what that -- and you recorded

22 that because -- due to the purchase of CILCO and

23 Illinois Power, correct?

24      A.   That's correct.  That was the 2012 activity

25 that would have flowed through the Income Statement
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1 related to the acquisitions, correct.

2      Q.   All right.  Well, let's see if -- just as a

3 hypothetical, if you had not recorded any

4 income-related purchase accounting, do you know what

5 the balance of common equity would have been on

6 December 31st, 2012?

7      A.   No.  I haven't looked at the common equity

8 balance, and retained earnings is just one component

9 of common equity.  I believe our discussion has been

10 focused primarily on retained earnings.

11      Q.   Well, let's see.  I think we have all the

12 numbers already.  In Attachment B to Staff Exhibit

13 9.0, which is Ms. Phipp's rebuttal testimony --

14           MR. STURTEVANT:  I'm sorry.  Is there a

15 question?

16           MR. LANNON:  Coming.

17      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) In looking at those numbers,

18 looking at Attachment B on Staff Exhibit 9.0, can you

19 back out the net income-related purchase accounting

20 and come up with a balance of common equity without

21 the net income-related purchase accounting?

22      A.   Attachment B only deals with retained

23 earnings.  You're asking about common equity.  Common

24 equity is broader than just retained earnings, so I

25 can't do that based upon the way you phrased the
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1 question.

2      Q.   Do you have Attachment B in front of you?

3      A.   I do.

4      Q.   Do you see for 2012, the net income of the

5 Company?  I'll withdraw that.  Let me ask it a

6 different way, and we'll just stick with retained

7 earnings.

8           Had AIC not recorded any net -- any net

9 income or retained earnings-related purchase

10 accounting, what would AIC's balance of common equity

11 have been on December 31st, 2012?

12           MR. STURTEVANT:  Again, objection.  It calls

13 for speculation.

14           JUDGE ALBERS:  Sustained.

15      Q.   (By Mr. Lannon) Can you tell me what AIC's

16 December 31st balance of retained earnings is as of

17 December 31st, 2012?

18      A.   The balance is $359,806,190.

19      Q.   In your professional opinion, is a positive

20 retained earnings balance a necessary pre-condition

21 for paying a dividend?

22      A.   Yes.  As I've indicated in the recent gas

23 case, the Company's policy is to pay dividends out of

24 positive retained earnings, and while there can be

25 extenuating circumstances or an exception with the
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1 steps to identify the quasi reorganization, there's an

2 exception, and the normal course of business practice

3 would be to pay dividends out of positive retained

4 earnings.

5      Q.   But there's no comprehensive accounting

6 guidance or rule or legal requirement that dividends

7 can be no greater than the balance of retained

8 earnings; is there?

9      A.   I don't know.

10      Q.   Let me break that question up.  Is there any

11 accounting guidance or rule that dividends can be no

12 greater than the balance of retained earnings?

13      A.   I don't know if there is an accounting

14 guidance or rule for that.

15      Q.   And the same thing, though, for legal

16 requirements or rules?

17      A.   Could you repeat that, please?

18      Q.   Would your answer be the same for legal

19 requirements or rules, too?

20      A.   I don't know.

21           MR. LANNON:  Your Honor, at this point in

22 time -- thank you very much, Mr. Stafford, for your

23 patience with me.  Again, I apologize for taking so

24 long with the documents and stuff.  At this point,

25 Your Honor, I'd like to move in Staff Cross
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1 Exhibits -- I think it's 6, 7 and 8.

2           JUDGE ALBERS:  You have Staff Cross Exhibits

3 4 and 5.  Nobody moved for the admission of those yet.

4           MR. LANNON:  Oh, those were for Mr.

5 Stafford.  I'd move for Staff Cross Exhibits 4 through

6 8.

7           JUDGE ALBERS:  Any objections?

8           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm going to

9 object to the admission of Staff Cross Exhibit 6,

10 because the witness as unable to identify or confirm

11 what it was.

12           JUDGE ALBERS:  That one only?

13           MR. STURTEVANT:  Correct.  The rest, we have

14 no objection to.

15           JUDGE ALBERS:  Do you care to respond to

16 that, Mr. Lannon?

17           MR. LANNON:  Six is part of the Motion for

18 Administrative Notice.

19           JUDGE ALBERS:  Well, part of it is.  That

20 Motion to Separate, which we granted --

21           MR. LANNON:  I'm sorry.  I didn't hear that,

22 Your Honor.

23           JUDGE ALBERS:  The content of Staff Cross

24 Exhibit 6 is also in what we took administrative

25 notice of, at least according to --
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1           MR. LANNON:  That's correct.  That's what I

2 meant, Your Honor.

3           JUDGE ALBERS:  Well, Staff Cross Exhibits 4,

4 5, 7 and 8 are admitted, and Staff Cross Exhibit 6 is

5 not admitted with the objection raised by

6 Mr. Sturtevant.

7           MR. LANNON:  Thank you, Your Honor.

8           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, at this point,

9 would it be possible to give the witness a break?  I

10 think he's been on for over an hour and a half.

11           JUDGE ALBERS:  That's fine.  Take a

12 five-minute break.

13           MR. STURTEVANT:  Thank you.

14           (Whereupon a break was taken.)

15           JUDGE ALBERS:  Mr. Lannon, you indicated you

16 had one other item for Staff?

17           MR. LANNON:  Yes.  Thank you, Your Honor.

18 With your permission, I'd like to move in what I have

19 marked as Staff Cross Exhibit 9, which is a number of

20 DR responses by the Company to staff series DR RMP4.

21 It's not a complete series, but it has 16 or so DR

22 responses in that.

23           JUDGE ALBERS:  Any objections?

24           MR. LANNON:  Also, I ran this by the

25 Company.  I do not believe the Company has any
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1 objections.

2           MR. STURTEVANT:  We have no objection, Your

3 Honor.

4           JUDGE ALBERS:  Hearing no objection, Staff

5 Cross Exhibit 9 is admitted.  Anything further from

6 Staff concerning Mr. Stafford?

7           MR. LANNON:  No, that's it for Staff.  Thank

8 you, Your Honor.

9           JUDGE ALBERS:  Mr. Doshi or Ms. Satter, do

10 one of you still have questions for Mr. Stafford?

11           MS. SATTER:  Mr. Doshi will.

12           JUDGE ALBERS:  Go ahead.

13           MR. DOSHI:  Yes, Your Honor.  Thank you.  In

14 previous discussions with Company counsel, we

15 indicated that we would like 60 minutes to cross

16 examine Mr. Stafford.  In light of the somewhat more

17 relaxed schedule, would it be all right if we went

18 over 60 minutes?

19           MR. STURTEVANT:  I'm not going to agree to

20 expand his cross just because there's no other

21 witnesses available today.  That's the purpose of

22 establishing estimates in a schedule.

23           JUDGE YODER:  Are we talking 65 minutes?

24 The estimates are estimates, and we've gone over them

25 extensively before, but we try and keep to them.  How
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1 much are you talking?  If you say three or four hours,

2 I will say no.

3           MR. DOSHI:  Seventy-five to 90 minutes.

4           JUDGE YODER:  We'll see.  As indicated, they

5 are estimates, but we do hope that the lawyers try and

6 hold to them, but let's see where we end up.  So I

7 won't probably be keeping a clock on you unless it

8 gets close to my lunchtime.

9           MR. DOSHI:  Thank you, Your Honor.

10                        CROSS EXAMINATION

11 QUESTIONS BY MR. DOSHI:

12      Q.   Good morning, Mr. Stafford.  How are you?

13      A.   Fine, thank you.

14      Q.   As I'm sure you recall, we met before, last

15 month in the gas case.  I have a few questions for you

16 today about your testimony in this case.

17           I'd like to begin by showing you two

18 documents that were schedules to the Company's initial

19 filing, and I'm going to mark these as -- actually, we

20 marked these yesterday as AG Cross Exhibit 1 and AG

21 Cross Exhibit 2.  We distributed copies of these to

22 the parties and to Your Honors yesterday.  The two

23 documents are Schedule C21 and Schedule C8 from the

24 Company's initial filing.  May I approach the witness,

25 please?
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1           JUDGE YODER:  Sure.

2      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Mr. Stafford, do you

3 recognize these two documents?

4      A.   Yes.

5      Q.   Did you sponsor these two documents as part

6 of the Company's initial filing in this case?

7      A.   That's correct.  Looking at what we marked

8 as AG Cross Exhibit 1, Schedule C21, would you agree

9 that Line 5 of that document shows the Company's

10 public relations expenses for the four years, 2009,

11 2010, 2011 and 2012?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Looking at the document we marked as AG

14 Cross Exhibit 2, Schedule C8, would you agree that

15 this document shows various advertising expense

16 accounts for the calendar year 2012?

17      A.   That's correct.

18           MR. DOSHI:  Thank you.  Your Honor, at this

19 time, I'd like to move for the admission of these two

20 documents, AG Cross Exhibit 1 and AG Cross Exhibit 2.

21           JUDGE YODER:  Any objection?

22           MR. STURTEVANT:  No objection, Your Honor.

23           JUDGE YODER:  AG Cross Exhibits 1 and 2 will

24 be admitted as evidence in this docket.

25           MR. DOSHI:  Thank you very much.  Next I'd
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1 like to move on to the topic of depreciation rate

2 adjustments that have been proposed in this case as

3 well as in the Company's recent August 19, 2013

4 template modification filing, which has been

5 documented as 13-0517.

6           Your Honor, may I approach the witness

7 again?

8           JUDGE YODER:  Yes.

9           MR. DOSHI:  I'm going to hand Mr. Stafford

10 two documents.  One is a copy of -- actually, I'm

11 going to hand him one document, which is a copy of the

12 Depreciation Study that was attached as a work paper

13 to his Exhibit 1.0 in this case.  We are marking this

14 depreciation study as AG Cross Exhibit 5.

15           (Whereupon an off-the-record discussion was

16 held.)

17           JUDGE YODER:  Back on the record.

18           MR. DOSHI:  Thank you, Your Honor.

19      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Mr. Stafford, do you

20 recognize this document?

21      A.   Yes, I do.

22      Q.   Can you briefly explain what it is?

23      A.   It is a summary report by our consulting

24 firm we retained, Gannett Fleming, to conduct a

25 depreciation rate study for Ameren Illinois Electric



223

1 Operations, and the study was conducted in 2012.  And

2 what the study shows is the analysis conducted of the

3 utility plant accounts for Ameren Illinois Electric,

4 the analysis retirements, cost of removable salvage,

5 service lives, and that analysis was conducted to

6 establish new depreciation rates for each individual

7 utility plant.

8      Q.   Thank you.  How often does the Company

9 engage this consultant at Gannett Fleming, Inc. or a

10 similar consultant to produce depreciation rate

11 studies like this?

12      A.   The objective is to conduct a study

13 approximately every five years or so, and so we had an

14 agreement with staff to conduct a study.  In 2012, we

15 had made a commitment to do so, and we were around the

16 five-year time frame for conducting the additional

17 study.  And, then, therefore, we conducted that study

18 in 2012, submitted that to the Commission through a

19 collective letter notice filing and then established

20 new depreciation rates January 22, 2013 based upon the

21 result was of this study.

22      Q.   Thank you.  Could you please refer to Page

23 Roman Numeral II-5 of this document?  Do you see

24 towards the bottom of the page or the paragraph at the

25 bottom of the page, it says, "The Iowa curves were
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1 developed at the Iowa State College Engineering

2 Experiment Station through an extensive process of

3 observation and classification of the ages at which

4 industrial property had been retired.  A report of the

5 the study which resulted in the classification of

6 property survivor characteristics into 18 type curves

7 was published in 1935 in the form of the Experiment

8 Stations Bulletin 125."

9           Then it refers to the curves being presented

10 in a text, and Footnote 2 shows that the text was

11 published in 1953.  Do you see all that?

12      A.   I don't see 1953.  I see 1935, 1957, but I'm

13 with you, generally speaking, on what you're --

14      Q.   I was referring to Footnote 2 at the bottom

15 of that page.

16      A.   Oh, I see, Footnote 2, correct.

17      Q.   And then it says, in 1957, and then if we

18 skip a few pages to Roman Numeral II-10, it says that

19 "an Iowa State graduate student submitted a thesis

20 presenting his developments of the fourth family

21 consisting of four O type survival curves."  Do you

22 see that?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   Now, can you please skip ahead to Roman

25 Numeral II-18, which I guess is eight pages forward in



225

1 the document?  It says in the last partial paragraph

2 at the bottom of that page, it says, "The Iowa type

3 curves are used in the study to smooth those original

4 stub curves which are expressed as a percent surviving

5 at ages in years."  Do you see that?

6      A.   Yes.

7           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm going to

8 object to this line of questioning.  Apparently

9 counsel is simply reading and asking Mr. Stafford to

10 agree with what this depreciation study says.  I

11 recognize that it's Mr. Stafford's work paper, and I

12 don't necessarily have an objection to it coming into

13 the record, but at this point, I don't really see the

14 point of going through and reading all of the pieces

15 of the depreciation study and having Mr. Stafford

16 confirm that's what it says.

17           MR. DOSHI:  Your Honor, I'll get to the

18 point right now.

19           JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Then the objection is

20 overruled.

21      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) My question for Mr. Stafford

22 is, do you believe it's appropriate to use Company

23 data on survivorship of plants from recent years and

24 use curves developed at Iowa State University in the

25 1930s from observation of utility companies of that
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1 time to smooth the data?

2           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm going to

3 object to the question as outside the scope of Mr.

4 Stafford's testimony and lacking in foundation.

5 Mr. Stafford did not prepare the depreciation study.

6 Certainly, he can rely on it, but I believe the

7 question should be directed to the preparer.

8           JUDGE YODER:  I'll sustain it in

9 anticipation of a better foundation for asking him

10 that question.

11      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Mr. Stafford, is it correct

12 that the modification to schedule FRC2 of the

13 Company's annual -- of the Company's formula rate

14 template is based -- that you sponsored in Exhibit

15 18.3 of your surrebuttal testimony is based, in part,

16 on this document?

17      A.   The change in FRC2 for depreciation rates is

18 based upon the results of the study in the aggregate.

19      Q.   Do you believe it's appropriate to change

20 the Company's formula rate template based on a study

21 that smooths Company data based on observations of the

22 utility plant from the 1930s?

23           MR. STURTEVANT:  Again, I'm going to object

24 as to outside the scope of Mr. Stafford's testimony

25 and on a foundational basis.  I mean, he's asking
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1 Mr. Stafford questions about the methodology used in

2 the depreciation study.  As I said before, I think

3 it's appropriate for Mr. Stafford, as an expert, to

4 rely on the results of the depreciation study, but if

5 there are questions about the methodology, those would

6 have been best directed to the preparer, and the time

7 to have done that would have been discovery.

8           JUDGE YODER:  Any response?

9           MR. DOSHI:  Your Honor, the witness is

10 advocating a change to the Company's formula rate

11 template in this docket as well as in Docket 13-0517

12 based specifically on this report that I'm speaking

13 of, so I'd like to understand the justification for

14 using this report.

15           JUDGE YODER:  Well, I'll overrule the

16 objection to the extent he is qualified to answer

17 them.  You can answer.

18      A.   Could I have the question read back, please?

19           (Wherein, the requested portion of the

20 record was read by the court reporter.)

21      A.   Well to begin with, I am not familiar with

22 how the Iowa curve works fully.  I have a general

23 understanding.  I don't know to the extent the data

24 from the 1930 is utilized, per se, as you indicate.

25 Iowa curves are recognized an industry standard, a
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1 general industry practice as part of conducting

2 depreciation rate studies.  Our consultant that we

3 hire to do this work is an industry expert in

4 depreciation rate studies.  He's utilizing best

5 practice, to my knowledge, in conducting this study,

6 and my belief would be that if he's utilizing best

7 practice, which is my understanding, in the way he has

8 conducted the study comports with preferred industry

9 practice and would be the correct approach to use for

10 adjustments to depreciation rates.  Therefore, based

11 upon the study in the aggregate and a consultant

12 preparing the study and their knowledge and practice

13 within the industry, I would consider it appropriate

14 to adjust the template for the change in depreciation

15 rates.

16      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) All right.  Thank you.  Next

17 can you turn to your Exhibit 18.3, which I believe is

18 the Company's updated formula rate template following

19 the August 19, 2013 filing?  And please turn to

20 schedule FRC2 on Page 10.  Mr. Olivero, who is staff

21 counsel, as you know, asked you a couple of questions

22 about this schedule earlier today.  Would it by

23 correct to say that the only change to this schedule

24 in the Company's August 19, 2013 filing is the

25 insertion of Line 8A?  Actually, let me strike that.
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1 What I said is not correct.

2      A.   Would it be correct to say that the only

3 change to the schedule is the insertion of Line 8A and

4 then the additional insertion of Line 8B, which adds

5 the former Line 8 with the Line 8A and finally the

6 change to Line 10, which multiplies new Line A/B,

7 which is in place of former Line A by the

8 jurisdictional allocators?

9           MR. STURTEVANT:  And just to be clear, we're

10 talking about changes made in the -- to reflect the

11 August 19th filing?

12           MR. DOSHI:  That's correct.

13      A.   I agree with that.

14      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Okay.  Thank you.  Is it

15 correct to say that the values in Line 8A are composed

16 of the increment in depreciation rate due to the study

17 from Gannett Fleming times the Company's plant as of

18 December 31st, 2012?  Plus, the other component of

19 Line 8A is the increment in depreciation rates, thanks

20 to the study, times the projected plant additions for

21 2013.  Would that be correct?

22      A.   That's correct.

23      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Would it be correct to

24 say that in the past, before this template change for

25 August 19, the depreciation expense for the filing
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1 year in the formula rate template was derived from

2 roughly the prior year's FERC filed depreciation

3 expense as found on Line 1 of Schedule FRC2, plus the

4 estimated depreciation on the projected plant

5 additions, which is calculated on Appendix 8 of the

6 template, which can be found on Page 27 of Exhibit

7 18.3, which is actually the second page of Appendix 8?

8      A.   I'd agree with that.

9      Q.   Now, if you look on Page 27 of Exhibit 18.3,

10 which is the second page of Appendix 8, at Lines 19

11 through 21, the depreciation rates for distribution

12 plant, general plant and tangible plant for the prior

13 year in this case, 2012, is calculated using FERC Form

14 1 depreciation figures, and the average plant in

15 service balance for the previous year here being 2012;

16 is that correct?

17      A.   That's correct.

18      Q.   So using the approach on Line 21 -- I'm

19 sorry, Lines 19 through 21 of that page that we're

20 looking at, Page 27 of Exhibit 18.3, the estimated

21 depreciation rate -- this is for 2012, which before

22 the template change would be used as an estimate of

23 depreciation on projected plant additions for 2013 --

24 the estimated depreciation rate would be 3.26 percent

25 for distribution plant and 2.43 percent for general
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1 plant; is that correct?

2      A.   That's correct.

3      Q.   Okay.  So getting back to Schedule FRC2, the

4 adjustment seeks to find the increment from that

5 3.26 percent and 2.43 percent, which were calculated

6 on Appendix 8, up to the new estimated depreciation

7 accrual rates from the Gannett Fleming study, which

8 are 3.50 percent for distribution plant and

9 5.56 percent for general plant, and I'm reading that

10 from Roman Numeral I-5 of the study; is that correct?

11      A.   That's correct.

12      Q.   Why do you think it wouldn't be appropriate

13 to continue using the Appendix 8 estimated

14 depreciation rates for projected plant additions in

15 2013, and if it turns out that those estimates were

16 significantly off, then make it up using the

17 reconciliation process in the following year's formula

18 rate uptake filing?

19           MR. STURTEVANT:  Did you say Appendix 8 or

20 Appendix A?

21           MR. DOSHI:  Appendix 8.

22           MR. STURTEVANT:  Okay.

23      A.   Well, the reason is that we know that in

24 2013, depreciation rates changed, and we are

25 calculating depreciation on 2013 projected additions,
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1 and, in fact, the entire projected additions

2 adjustment is designed to estimate what the change in

3 depreciation expense will be for 2013, what the change

4 in plant will be for the entire group of utility

5 plants and what the change in the entire depreciation

6 reserve will be in 2013.  So by using rates that you

7 know are in effect for 2013, rather than outdated 2012

8 rates, you provide a matching of 2013 projected

9 additions with your best estimate of what the changes

10 on the 2013 projected depreciation reserve will be,

11 along with your best estimate of what 2013

12 depreciation expense will be.

13           And, furthermore, this adjustment is only in

14 the filing year.  It's not in the reconciliation year.

15 As you indicated a few minutes ago, this adjustment

16 really is temporary in nature, because ultimately we

17 will reconcile 2013 with actual data, and the benefit

18 of making this adjustment now is that you are

19 providing your best estimate of what 2013 will be, and

20 in that process, you should further limit the

21 reconciliation adjustment that's required one year

22 from now and enters (phonetic) on the reconciliation.

23           So, in summary, it provides a better

24 matching for 2013, and it should also limit the

25 variances from the reconciliation with interest one
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1 year from now when we do the 2013 reconciliation.

2      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Thank you.  If you go back

3 and look at historical depreciation accrual studies

4 that were performed for the company -- I'm not sure if

5 they were performed by Gannett Fleming or similar

6 consultants.  How accurate were they as a predicted

7 measure of what the Company's actual depreciation in

8 the next couple of years after the study would be?

9      A.   Well, the study itself actually sets the

10 depreciation rates.  It's not designed to measure

11 accuracy.  Once those rates go in effect, they are

12 actually utilized by the Company for depreciation

13 expense.  So in that respect, I would consider them a

14 hundred percent accurate, because you're using the

15 results of the study, and you're utilizing those for

16 calculation of depreciation expense once those rates

17 go into effect.

18      Q.   So will it be the case in next year's

19 formula rate update filing when we look at Appendix 8,

20 rather the second page of Appendix 8, which is Page 27

21 of your 18.3, in next year's formula rate update

22 filing where we calculate the depreciation rates from

23 FERC values for 2013?  Will those depreciation rates,

24 again on Appendix 8, Lines 19 through 21, next year's

25 filing, will those depreciation rates exactly match
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1 the Gannett Fleming rates?

2      A.   Well, actual experience is based on actual,

3 and we are working with our best estimate right now.

4 The final results for 2013 will be a function, among

5 other things, of actual utility plant additions,

6 actual utility plant retirements, the actual cost of

7 removal, actual salvage, and actual and estimates are

8 just that.  They're not intended to be equal, and our

9 goal to provide the best estimate possible here.

10      Q.   If I'm not mistaken, you said a couple of

11 minutes ago that the Gannett Fleming, the rates in the

12 Gannett Fleming study set the new depreciation rates

13 for the Company.  So why would there be a discrepancy

14 in actual 2013 depreciation rates versus the rates

15 from the study?

16      A.   The actual rates applied to utility plant

17 accounts are set from this, and they're a hundred

18 percent accurate from what's being implemented.  What

19 you're seeing here is the application of depreciation

20 rates to actual utility plant and doing any

21 calculation from FERC Form 1 after you know what 2013

22 actual data is.  So when I'm referring to depreciation

23 rates being set and being a hundred percent accurate,

24 they are, but those rates are then applied to utility

25 plant accounts, and this calculation is a function of
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1 other factors, not the least of which is the fact that

2 actual utility plant, it may be different than the

3 estimates that we're working from.

4      Q.   Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  I'd like to

5 turn back to Schedule FRC2, which, again, is --

6 sorry -- again, is on Page 10 of your Exhibit 18.3.

7 Mr. Olivero asked earlier today if -- actually, I'll

8 ask a slightly different version of Mr. Olivero's

9 question.

10           Would a layperson looking at Line 8A of

11 Schedule FRC2 be able to go to Work Paper 18, which is

12 contained in your Exhibit 18.4, by the way, and derive

13 the three numbers that are shown on Line 8A, 10.93

14 million, 5.084 million and 1.906 million?

15      A.   As I indicated, the information to derive

16 those numbers were ultimately coming from Staff

17 exhibits, so the layperson would have to do some

18 additional work to do that.  Staff relied on Data

19 Request Responses from the Company for the information

20 that they included in their schedule.  So the

21 layperson would need to look at Staff's schedule, and

22 then they would need to look at the data request that

23 Staff relied on for purposes of making the proposed

24 adjustment.

25      Q.   Thank you.  Do you think it might be more
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1 helpful for the public to have a clearer instruction

2 as to where the data on Line 8A and Schedule FRC2 is

3 coming from?

4           MR. STURTEVANT:  Objection.  It calls for

5 speculation.

6           MR. DOSHI:  I'll rephrase.

7           JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

8      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Do you think -- Mr. Stafford,

9 do you have any immediate family members who are

10 adults and don't understand utility rate-making very

11 well?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   Could you tell me what exactly kinds of

14 relation you have that fits that description?

15           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm just going

16 to object to the relevance of line of questioning

17 regarding Mr. Stafford's family.  I honestly don't

18 think it's appropriate.

19           MR. DOSHI:  Okay.  I'll rephrase the

20 question.

21           JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

22      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Mr. Stafford, would there be

23 a way that the adjustments or the source data for the

24 adjustment on Line 8A could be made clearer on this

25 template?
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1      A.   I don't believe so.  The template is

2 designed to source to Work Paper 18, and that Work

3 Paper 18 is provided with the filing, and granted

4 within Work Paper 18 itself, the Company could have

5 presented additional information and made that

6 clearer.  But within the template, which I believe is

7 the subject matter of your question, I think it's

8 clear to the reader that Work Paper 18 is the source

9 or the underlying information.

10      Q.   Would you agree that Work Paper 18 only

11 shows the total adjustment of 15.8 million, which was

12 Mr. Ostrander's adjustment in, I believe, his Staff

13 Exhibit 7, and does not show the three specific

14 numbers on Line 8A of your Schedule FRC2?

15      A.   Yes, I would agree with that.

16      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.

17           MR. DOSHI:  Your Honor, may I approach the

18 witness?

19           JUDGE YODER:  Sure.

20           MR. DOSHI:  I'm going to provide the witness

21 with what we're marking as AG Cross Exhibit 6.

22      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) So AG Cross Exhibit 6

23 consists of Work Paper C-2.23A from the Company's

24 initial filing.  Did you sponsor this, Mr. Stafford?

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And the next document of three in AG Cross

2 Exhibit 6 is the Company's response to Staff Data

3 Request JMO3.5R.  Did you prepare and sponsor that

4 response, Mr. Stafford?

5      A.   I did.

6      Q.   And then, finally, the third item in AG

7 Cross Exhibit 6 is the Company's response to Staff

8 Data Request JMO 14.01.  Did you sponsor that

9 response?

10      A.   I did.

11      Q.   I'd like to ask you a couple of quick

12 questions about these documents.  On the first item,

13 Work Paper C-2.23a, where the Company was estimating

14 the depreciation for 2013 on projected plant

15 additions, you take the projected electric

16 distribution additions of 166.958 million and multiply

17 it times the estimated depreciation rate of

18 3.26 percent; is that correct?

19      A.   Correct.

20      Q.   And does 3.26 percent come from Appendix 8

21 of the formula rate template that we discussed before,

22 Lines 19 through 21?  Line 19, actually, to be

23 specific, Column G of Line 19 on Page 27 of Exhibit

24 18.3?

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   And back to the cross exhibit on the first

2 page, you take General Electric plants of -- projected

3 plant addition in the category of General Electric

4 plant of 17.339 million and multiply that times the

5 depreciation rate of 2.43 percent; is that correct?

6      A.   Correct.

7      Q.   And the 2.43 percent, again, comes from Line

8 20 of Appendix 8 of the formula rate template; is that

9 correct?

10      A.   Correct.

11      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  And then if you switch to

12 the Company's response to JMO3.5R, you look at the

13 attachment, Lines 1 and 2 show the net electric

14 distribution projected plant additions.  And would you

15 accept that the sum of the amount in Column B, Lines 1

16 and 2 is the same as the 166.958 million from the

17 first page of this cross exhibit?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And would you accept that the sum of

20 lines -- Column B, Lines 3 and 4 in the 3.05R attached

21 is the same as the 17.339 million for General Electric

22 plant from the first page of the cross exhibit?

23      A.   Yes.

24      Q.   And then in Column C of 3.05R -- rather

25 JMO-3.05R attached, it looks like the response to the
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1 request from Mr. Ostrander, the Company is calculating

2 what would be the depreciation of distribution plant

3 at 3.50 percent and of general plant at 5.56 percent;

4 is that correct?

5      A.   Correct.

6      Q.   And those rates come from the Gannett

7 Fleming study; is that correct?

8      A.   Yes.

9      Q.   Okay.  And would you agree that in preparing

10 his adjustment for the depreciation rate, the new

11 depreciation rate and projected plant additions,

12 Mr. Ostrander took the difference in the depreciation

13 as calculated on JMO-3.05 attached minus the

14 depreciation that you originally calculated in Work

15 Paper C-2.23a?

16      A.   As it applies to projected additions, yes.

17      Q.   Yes.  Okay.  Thank you.  Then, would you

18 agree that the difference in estimated depreciation

19 rate on distribution, electric distribution plants

20 from the estimated depreciation from Appendix A up to

21 the new accrual rate from the study, in other words

22 3.50 percent minus 3.26 percent, would you agree

23 that's 24 basis points or .24, one percentage point?

24      A.   Yes.

25      Q.   And would you agree that the increment of
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1 depreciation rate on electric general plant is --

2 sorry -- is 5.56 percent -- that's the new accrual

3 rate from the study -- minus 2.43 percent, which is

4 3.13 percent, or 313 basis points?  Would you agree to

5 that?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   Okay.  Thanks.  Now, then, I'd like to refer

8 you to the Company's response to JMO14.01.  If you

9 look at the attachment -- or, actually, let's look at

10 the data request sheet, which is the fourth page of my

11 cross exhibit packet.  The question said, "Similar to

12 the Company's response to Staff Data Request JMO3.05,

13 for the filing year revenue requirement, please apply

14 the electric depreciation rates effective January 1st,

15 2013 to the December 31st, 2012 plant balances to

16 calculate the incremental amount of the depreciation

17 expense."  Do you see that?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   And then looking at this attachment or your

20 response to JMO-14.01, looking at Column C, Line 7 and

21 Column C, Line 8, it appears that you calculated an

22 increment in book depreciation rate for a distribution

23 plant of .22 percent rather than the .24 percent we

24 discussed just a minute earlier.

25      A.   Yeah, I see that.  I'm not sure why we
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1 didn't have .24 percent on here.  It appears it should

2 have been a little bit higher.

3      Q.   And then in Column C, Line 8, it says that

4 the increment is 1.07 percent instead of the 1 -- I'm

5 sorry -- instead of the 3.13 increment for General

6 Electric plant depreciation rate we discussed just a

7 minute earlier.  Do you see that?

8      A.   I see that.  I also note that there's a

9 Footnote 4 that provides an explanation for that

10 change, and I don't recall specifically why that is

11 the case at this time, but I'm noting that Footnote 4

12 explains why we use the increment of 1.22 percent and

13 an increment of 1.7 percent.  I would note that both

14 of the increments are lower than what we discussed a

15 few minutes ago.  If we had used the increment you

16 explained, we would have a higher depreciation expense

17 number.

18      Q.   In Footnote 4, there in JMO-114.01 attached,

19 3.28 was the old accrual rate as calculated in the

20 Gannet Fleming study; is that correct?  You can see

21 that Roman Numeral I-5 of the study.

22      A.   Yes, I see that.

23      Q.   And 4.49 percent, which is found in the

24 Footnote 4 on JMO-14.01 attached, was the old accrual

25 rate as calculated by the Gannet Fleming study for
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1 General Electric plants.  Would you agree to that?

2      A.   Yes, I see that.

3      Q.   In light of this discussion, do you think

4 the Company's response to JMO-14.01, attached, should

5 be revised?

6      A.   I don't believe so.  The fact that the

7 calculated depreciation rates, as shown on Roman

8 Numeral I-5, are 3.28 and 4.49 would be an indicator

9 that at that point in the study, using the 2011 plant,

10 that was embedded depreciation rate at that point in

11 time.  So what we are look at is an incremental change

12 in the depreciation rate to year-end plant.  Now, in

13 JMO-14.01, we're applying to the year-end 2012 plant,

14 and the study was applied to a year-end 2011 plant, so

15 there was a little bit of a time difference there.

16 But given what I'm reviewing on where you pointed to

17 me on the schedule, I can see the old, and I can see

18 the new rate.  We are applying this -- in JMO-14.01,

19 we are specifically applying the depreciate rates to

20 year-end plant, so I think it makes sense to use that

21 increment.  As we discussed, if we went the other

22 approach, we'd actually have higher depreciation

23 expense.

24      Q.   Do you believe it was appropriate to use one

25 set of increments and depreciation rates in your
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1 response to Mr. Ostrander for 2013 projected plant

2 additions and a different set of increments and

3 depreciation rates in your response to Mr. Ostrander

4 for December 31st, 2012 plant?

5      A.   Yes.  The Appendix 8 calculates 2013

6 projected depreciation expense, and for that we used

7 Gannett Fleming's depreciation rates actually for both

8 2013, projected additions, and 2012 year-end plant.

9 The only difference is what we are comparing it

10 against.  For 2013, we were comparing it against

11 Appendix 8, a calculation from FERC 401 to how

12 Appendix 8 calculates the existing rate in FERC Form

13 1, the specific calculation related to 2013 projected

14 additions.  We use that specific calculation to

15 compare the old rates against the new rates.  When

16 we're getting into year-end 2012 plant, that specific

17 calculation isn't there.  Rather, we're looking at the

18 study results themselves, and seeing that within the

19 study, at the year-end balance, the utility plant,

20 granted 2011, the existing rates are shown on Roman

21 numeral I-5, and we are comparing that against the new

22 rates.

23           So I believe that both approaches are

24 appropriate given that one calculation is year-end

25 plant, and the other is trying to replicate our best
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1 estimate of what the calculation for 2013 projected

2 addition should be.

3      Q.   The depreciation rates calculated on

4 Appendix 8 are based on the FERC depreciation figures

5 for 2012; are they not?

6      A.   They point to both beginning and end of year

7 values and calculate an average, so there's a specific

8 formula used for that calculation.  It's based on an

9 average year calculation.

10      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  After we've been through

11 these discussion, looking at all these data request

12 responses, do you think it's possible to incorporate

13 these analyses into -- I'm sorry -- into Work Paper 18

14 as referenced on Line 8A of Schedule FRC2?

15      A.   Well, these data requests could, as you have

16 provided me, and WPC-2.3A, I think, was part of the

17 previous Work Paper 18 submission, but in any event,

18 you know, you're submitting this as a cross exhibit.

19 I agree, from a technical standpoint, that they are

20 related to Work Paper 18, and they provide some

21 additional transparency to the calculation and

22 depreciation expense, so, generally, I would say yes

23 to your question.

24      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry to take so long on

25 that topic.  I'd like to move on to the topic of the
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1 rate base to be used in the ROE collar calculation on

2 Schedule FRA-3.

3           MR. STURTEVANT:  Of 18.3?

4           MR. DOSHI:  Yes.

5      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) On your surrebuttal

6 testimony, Exhibit 18.0, Line 744 on Page 36 --

7 actually, let me withdraw that question.  I'm sorry.

8           Let's turn to Page 39 of your surrebuttal

9 testimony at Line 800.  The question is, "Mr. Effron

10 further claims that he has not proposed any changes

11 that affect the reconciliation revenue requirement

12 either directly or indirectly; is this correct?"

13           And your answer is, "No.  As explained

14 above, the reconciliation revenue requirement is one

15 of the key inputs into the ROE collar calculation.

16 Mr. Effron's modifications have the effects of

17 changing the amounts of the reconciliation revenue

18 requirement variance of collar on Schedule FRA4, Line

19 3."  Do you see that?

20      A.   Yes.

21      Q.   Is that your testimony?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   Is it true that the reconciliation revenue

24 requirement is performed on Schedule FRA-1 Rec of the

25 template?
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1      A.   That's correct.

2      Q.   And has Mr. Effron proposed any changes to

3 Schedule to FRA-1 Rec?

4      A.   No.

5      Q.   Now, turning to Schedule FRA-3, other than

6 Line 1 on Schedule FRA-3, has Mr. Effron proposed any

7 changes to Schedule FRA-3?

8      A.   No direct changes.  However, change in Line

9 1 affects almost the entire schedule of FRA-3.

10 Virtually every number changes when you change Line 1,

11 a number of indirect changes resulting from that

12 change.

13      Q.   You mentioned in your testimony, Exhibit

14 18.0, your surrebuttal on Page 37, Line 773 --

15 actually, Lines 772 and 773, you state that

16 "Mr. Effron's proposal has the effects of lowering the

17 calculated amount on FRA-3, Lines 21 through 31 to

18 align with averages rather than year-end balances."

19 Now, looking at lines -- looking at Schedule FRA-3,

20 looking at Lines 21 and 22, these lines are based on

21 multiplying a rate base from Line 1 times a short-term

22 debt percent and the long-term debt percent

23 respectively and then multiplying those times relevant

24 interest rates respectively; is that correct?

25      A.   No.  Line 21 and 22 do not multiply by Line
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1 1.

2      Q.   But Lines 9 and 10 are derived from Line 1;

3 is that correct?

4      A.   That's correct.

5      Q.   So back to my original question about Lines

6 21 and 22.  Would it be fair to say that Mr. Effron's

7 proposed adjustment to Line 1 would tend to reduce the

8 values on Line 21 and 22?

9      A.   Yes, it would to the extent that average

10 rate base is less than year-end rate base.

11      Q.   Okay.  And Line 23 is based on multiplying

12 the rate base times -- the rate base from Line 1 times

13 a certain credit facility expense rate; is that

14 correct?

15      A.   It's multiplying by a credit facility

16 percent, correct.

17      Q.   So Line 23 would be reduced by Mr. Effron's

18 adjustment; is that right?

19      A.   Correct.

20      Q.   Wouldn't Line -- so if what you said is

21 true, that Line 21, 22 and 23 would be reduced by

22 Mr. Effron's adjustment, then isn't it likely that

23 Line 24 would thereby be increased because expenses

24 are now lower, and Line 26 would thereby be increased

25 because Line 24 is now higher?
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1      A.   Could you repeat the question, please?

2      Q.   My question is simply that Lines 24 and 26

3 would now be increased because expenses are down and

4 income is higher thanks to the reductions to Lines 21,

5 22 and 23?

6      A.   If average rate base is lower than year-end

7 rate base, the changes for those items would cause an

8 increase to Line 24, correct.

9      Q.   And similarly, Line 28 would likely be

10 higher, given the assumption you stated.  Income taxes

11 would be higher, and Line 29, net income would likely

12 be higher, given the assumptions you state; is that

13 correct?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   And Line 31, as well, would likely be

16 higher.  Net income would be higher?

17      A.   Yes.

18      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Now let's look at

19 Schedule FRA-4, if you don't mind.  You stated that --

20 I'm sorry.  Returning to Page 39 of your surrebuttal,

21 Line 803, you said, "Mr. Effron's modifications have

22 the effect of changing the amounts of the

23 reconciliation revenue requirement variance with

24 collar on Schedule A-4."  Do you see that?

25      A.   Could you point me to the line?
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1      Q.   Line 803 on Page 39 of your surrebuttal,

2 18.0.

3      A.   That's correct.

4      Q.   Now, looking at Schedule FRA-4, Line 3.  The

5 variance with collar is a sum of the reconciliation

6 variance balance and the ROE collar adjustment; is

7 that correct?

8      A.   Correct.

9      Q.   And the rest of this schedule shows how

10 interest is calculated on that amount; is that

11 correct?

12      A.   Yes.

13      Q.   And then the final result of Schedule FRA-4

14 is shown in Line 33, which is a -- which is the

15 reconciliation variance with interest which goes into

16 the filing year revenue requirement; is that correct?

17      A.   Correct.

18      Q.   So would it be fair to say that the -- that

19 Mr. Effron's proposed change does not change the

20 reconciliation revenue requirements through Schedule

21 FRA-4?

22      A.   Well, as I indicated in testimony, I

23 indicated that the reconciliation requirement variance

24 with collar would change under Mr. Effron's proposal,

25 and that change would occur to the extent that use of
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1 average rate base instead the year-end rate base, as

2 used in Schedule FRA-3, specifically Schedule FRA-4,

3 Line 3, variance with collar would be different, and

4 you would then have a different amount of interest

5 calculated on the reconciliation with collar

6 adjustment.  I disagree with your premise Mr. Effron's

7 adjustment would change schedule FRA-4.

8      Q.   So the adjustment would change the interest

9 on the reconciliation variance that flows through to

10 the final year revenue requirement; is that correct?

11      A.   It would change the ROA collar adjustment to

12 the extent it triggered an ROA collar adjustment.

13 That's would be the extent to which the variance with

14 collar would change.  Variance with collar -- to the

15 extent the ROA collar adjustment was triggered would

16 change, that would then change the amount of interest

17 applied to the variance with collar that carries over

18 to Schedule FRA-1.

19      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  A question for you based

20 on your experience as an accountant and financial

21 professional.  When people in the finance business

22 talk about the capital structure of the Company, what

23 do they mean?

24      A.   I could just talk from my experience.  They

25 are referring to the capital investor deployed in the
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1 business.  And that could be a mix, typically a mix of

2 debt or equity capital.

3      Q.   Would it be fair to say that when financial

4 professionals talk about a Company's, quote, unquote

5 "capital structure," usually they mean the mix of debt

6 and equity?

7           MR. STURTEVANT:  Your Honor, I'm going to

8 object to this as outside the scope of Mr. Stafford's

9 testimony.  I believe the Company has a witness who is

10 available to talk about capital structure issues and

11 the opinion of financial professionals later on, and

12 that's Mr. Martin, who is scheduled to go tomorrow.

13           MR. DOSHI:  Your Honor, I'm not asking about

14 the numbers behind the Company's capital.  I'm not

15 disputing that.  Rather, I'm seeking to understand

16 what is typically meant or understood by the term

17 "capital structure," because it is very much an issue

18 in Mr. Stafford's testimony and our testimony with

19 regard to changes recently made by Senate Bill 9.

20           MR. STURTEVANT:  Well, I guess if we can tie

21 it to Mr. Stafford's testimony, but, again, I would

22 just repeat that the capital structure witness is

23 Mr. Martin.

24           JUDGE YODER:  I'll sustain the objection

25 with the understanding that you can question him about
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1 certain specific parts of his testimony.

2           MR. DOSHI:  Okay.  Thank you, Your Honor.

3           JUDGE YODER:  How much longer do you have?

4 Should we break for lunch?

5           MR. DOSHI:  I'd like to break for lunch, if

6 that's okay.

7           MR. STURTEVANT:  How much more time are we

8 talking about?

9           MR. DOSHI:  I believe I've been going for 60

10 minutes.  I might take 20 more.

11           MR. STURTEVANT:  Is it Your Honor's

12 preference to break for lunch now?  I would almost

13 prefer to finish Mr. Doshi's cross with Mr. Stafford,

14 and then that would provide a more natural break

15 point.

16           JUDGE YODER:  That's fine.  If it's about 20

17 minutes, you can go ahead and finish up your cross and

18 then come back at an appropriate time for that.

19           MR. STURTEVANT:  Thank you, Your Honor.

20           MR. DOSHI:  Thank you, Your Honor.

21      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Mr. Stafford, could you turn

22 to your rebuttal testimony at the top of -- actually,

23 at the bottom of Page 31?  You state there, "The

24 overall effect of Public Act 98-00105 was to establish

25 that year-end values for rate base and capital
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1 structure should be used in setting formula rates."

2 In your experience, how do financial professionals --

3 or, actually, let me back up.

4           A few minutes ago, you stated that capital

5 structure typically refers to the mix of debt and

6 equity.  Do you believe most financial professionals

7 would interpret SV9 directive to use year-end capital

8 structure that way?

9           MR. STURTEVANT:  Objection, Your Honor.  It

10 calls for speculation as to what financial

11 professionals would or would not do.

12           JUDGE YODER:  Are you going to respond, Mr.

13 Doshi?

14           MR. DOSHI: I'll rephrase the question.

15           JUDGE YODER:  Very well.

16      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Do you believe that a

17 Company's mix of debt and equity is a reasonable

18 interpretation of the term "capital structure" used in

19 Senate Bill 9?

20           MR. STURTEVANT:  Objection.  It calls for a

21 legal conclusion.

22           JUDGE YODER:  Response?

23           MR. DOSHI:  Your Honor, Mr. Stafford's

24 testimony is repeatedly drawing interpretations of the

25 term "capital structure" as used in Senate Bill 9.
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1           JUDGE YODER:  You're asking -- as I

2 understood, you're asking whether he believes his

3 interpretation is a reasonable interpretation?

4           MR. DOSHI:  Whether the interpretation I

5 suggested would be reasonable.

6           JUDGE YODER:  Maybe rephrase it.

7           MR. DOSHI:  Let me withdraw the question,

8 actually.  I'd like to move on to a different

9 question.

10      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) Please refer to Schedule

11 FRD-1 of Exhibit 18.3, which is the formula rate

12 template.  At Lines 10 through 13 of Schedule FRD-1,

13 the percent that equity comprises as a percent of

14 total capital and the same percent for preferred

15 stock, long-term debt and short-term debt for Ameren

16 Illinois Company for year-end 2012, is shown.  Would

17 you agree it's appropriate to call those percentages

18 the Company's capital structure?

19      A.   I would agree they are percentages of debt

20 and equity within the Company's capital structure.

21      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  I'd like to refer to

22 Exhibit 9.0 on Page 30.  You gave an example on Line

23 686.  You said, "Let's say the Company issued new

24 long-term debt and common equity in the amount of

25 $100 million on February 1st of given year.  That
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1 additional debt and equity would be fully recognized

2 as a component of capital structure financing rate

3 base for the reconciliation revenue requirement

4 calculation."  And then moving forward a bit to Line

5 697 on Page 31, you state that under Mr. Effron's

6 method, the ROE collar computation -- I should back up

7 for a moment.  Where that says "Mr. Effron's method,"

8 were you referring to using average rate base in the

9 ROE collar calculation?

10      A.   Yes.

11      Q.   So on Line 697, it says, "Under Mr. Effron's

12 method, the ROA collar computation would only include

13 50 percent of the debt and equity issuance."  Is that

14 your testimony?

15      A.   Yes.

16      Q.   Can I post to you a hypothetical scenario?

17 What if, instead of issuing that same $100 million of

18 debt and equity on February 1st, the Company issued

19 that issued that amount on Christmas Day,

20 December 25th, hypothetically?  Would using the

21 year-end rate base then be a reasonable presentation

22 of the Company's invested capital for the year?

23      A.   Not under the EIMA, and the Public Act 98015

24 is clear that you use year-end, and I don't think

25 using something close to year-end is a reasonable
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1 approximation.

2      Q.   I'm sorry.  Could you say the last part of

3 your response?

4      A.   I don't believe using a number close to

5 year-end is a reasonable approximation for a year-end

6 balance.

7      Q.   Hypothetically, if that amount of capital

8 were issued on December 25th and then the

9 December 31st rate entered into the ROE calculation,

10 then putting aside the legal requirement of the EIMA,

11 would it be a reasonable representation of the

12 Company's invested capital for the year to use

13 year-end rate base under my hypothetical?

14      A.   Again, I believe you used to use year-end

15 capital structure year-end base rate, and you're

16 posing one component of capital structure.  You

17 ultimately need to look at the full balance of the

18 capital structure at year-end to produce the right

19 result.

20      Q.   Okay.  I'd like to move on, if you don't

21 mind, to the issue raised by AG witnesses on deducting

22 deferred income tax from the reconciliation variance

23 before calculating interest thereon on Schedule FRA-4.

24 Would that be okay?

25      A.   Sure.
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1      Q.   Please turn to your surrebuttal Exhibit 18,

2 Page 31, Line 637.  There you state, "In providing for

3 interest, the EIMA reconciliation provision

4 compensates the utility of a ratepayer for the time

5 value of money."  Do you see that?

6      A.   Yes.

7      Q.   So in the context of the interest on

8 reconciliation calculation provided for in the EIMA,

9 in that context, exactly what money from your quote

10 that I just read, exactly what money are we talking

11 about?

12      A.   Are you referring to which aspect of that

13 statement?

14      Q.   You stated that the reconciliation provision

15 compensates the utility of a ratepayer for the time

16 value of money.  Can you explain what money, or

17 conceptually what money needs to be compensated for it

18 through the EIMA process?

19      A.   That would be the reconciliation balance.

20 It could be an over or under collective balance.  The

21 utility or ratepayer would need to be compensated for

22 interest, the WACC interest rate for the

23 facility-issued balance calculated on our Schedule

24 FRA-3.

25      Q.   In the current formula rate update
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1 proceeding, the Company had an over-recovery and thus

2 the reconciliation variance involves a refund to

3 ratepayers; is that correct?

4      A.   Correct.

5      Q.   I'd like to pose a hypothetical.  What if,

6 instead of approximately 46.6 million of

7 over-collection for the reconciliation year for 2012,

8 what if it was an under-collection of, let's just say,

9 46.6 million?  So in that hypothetical, if we assume

10 that the Company actually collected $46.6 million less

11 in 2012 than its authorized revenue requirement, would

12 it be fair to say that if the Company had collected

13 the 46.6 million for 2012, then they would have had to

14 pay income taxes on those cash receipts?

15      A.   You're saying that the Company had

16 collected?

17      Q.   My hypothetical is the Company collected

18 46.6 million less than authorized in 2012.  Now I

19 suppose I'm posing a hypothetical on a hypothetical.

20 If there was an under-collection, now let's imagine

21 that the Company actually did collect the

22 46.6 million.  Let's say they collected exactly the

23 revenue requirement for 2012.  Would they have been

24 required to pay income taxes on that 46.6 million?

25      A.   Yes.  They would pay income taxes when they
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1 received that 46.6 million in cash at the time that

2 the current income taxes are actually due, and they

3 wouldn't pay income taxes at the time they record an

4 accounting entry to defer the balance.  They would pay

5 the income taxes when they were due.  And just the

6 opposite effect works in an under and over-collection.

7 Taxes are refunded at the time the money is refunded

8 to customers, not at the time that an accounting entry

9 is made to record deferred income taxes.

10      Q.   Okay.  So in a world where the Company had

11 under-collection for 2012, could we say that the

12 Company's cash position as a result of that

13 under-collection is 46.6 million times 1 minus the tax

14 rate, which I think is like 41 percent, so times 1

15 times 4 minus -- sorry -- 46.6 times 1 minus

16 41 percent worse than it would have been if it had

17 just collected its authorized revenue requirement?

18      A.   No.  The Company's cash position is

19 46.6 million worse.  It needs to collect the full

20 46.6 million with interest to be able to pay income

21 taxes, to have enough cash to pay income taxes on the

22 entire 46.6 million with interest and still provide a

23 return on the investment.  Again, just the opposite

24 works with an over-collected balance.

25      Q.   If the company collected that missing
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1 46 million in 2012 and then paid income tax on that in

2 2012, then the cash they would have left over would be

3 46 million times 1 minus 41 percent, roughly; is that

4 correct?

5      A.   On the reconciliation balance under your

6 hypothetical, that's correct.  That's the amount of

7 cash left over after the Company would have made

8 income taxes.

9      Q.   And when that -- when the reconciliation

10 variance balance gets forwarded to 2014 rates and they

11 actually collect the 46 million, they will pay income

12 tax on that 46 million; is that correct?

13      A.   Again, you're speaking under a hypothetical?

14      Q.   Yes.

15      A.   Yes.  In 2014, if there was a 46.6 million

16 under-collection, the Company would pay -- if it

17 operates correctly, the Company would pay income taxes

18 on the 46.6 million plus interest at the WACC interest

19 rate on the 46.6 million.  Once they pay income taxes

20 on those balances, what they would have left over

21 would be the return to the ratepayer after they

22 cash -- the remaining cash would be returned to the

23 utility board's investment under collection at the

24 rate of WACC interest that's authorized under Public

25 Act 98015.



262

1      Q.   So the cash the Company would ultimately

2 realize from finally collecting the 46 million in 2014

3 rates would be approximately 46 million times 1 minus

4 41 percent, roughly, which is the tax rate; is that

5 correct?

6      A.   You're referring to the portion without

7 interest currently?

8      Q.   Yes, I'm specifically ignoring the interest

9 part.

10      A.   Well, the reconciliation balance, you know,

11 and AG doesn't dispute this piece, that the

12 reconciliation balance really operates no different

13 than interest.  You're entitled to recover the full

14 reconciliation balance and not the reconciliation

15 balance net a tax rate, because the deferred taxes,

16 all they are is a time difference.  They are temporary

17 in nature.  Every tax accountant understands that if

18 you record deferred taxes, they're temporary.  They

19 turn around and reverse, and the reconciliation

20 revenue capital requirement is calculated on a gross

21 base, not a net basis net of tax, the same as the

22 Company proposes for interest.  And you need to

23 calculate this balance on a gross basis, because you

24 have to get sufficient return with interest on that

25 revenue requirement to have sufficient cash on hand to
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1 pay income taxes and still provide the return to the

2 ratepayer in an under-collected scenario or provide

3 the adequate return -- or to the utility in an

4 under-collected scenario and provide an adequate

5 return to the ratepayer in an over-collected scenario.

6      Q.   Why does the Company need extra interest to

7 pay income tax out of the -- in my under-collection

8 hypothetical, why does the Company need extra interest

9 to pay income tax on the under-collection that they

10 will ultimately receive in cash in the 2014 rate?

11      A.   The interest becomes taxable to the Company

12 as a form of revenue, and you have to pay income taxes

13 on revenues including interest income, and that's why

14 you need sufficient cash to be able to pay taxes on

15 that balance.

16      Q.   Why can't the Company just pay tax out of

17 the interest income?

18      A.   If the Company paid tax out of the interest

19 income and didn't collect the full WACC interest rate,

20 it's just that.  You wouldn't be collecting the full

21 interest at the WACC interest rate, and Public Act

22 98015 is clear that the WACC interest is part of the

23 reconciliation with interest calculation.

24           MR. DOSHI:  Thank you, sir.  I have five

25 more minutes, and then I'll be done.  Would that be
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1 okay?

2           JUDGE YODER:  Carry on.

3           MR. DOSHI:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.

4      Q.   (By Mr. Doshi) I'd like to do two things.

5 No, I'd like to just do one thing.  I'd like to ask

6 you some questions about the SCADA, which I will refer

7 to as SCADA.  I am not sure if that's how the Company

8 says it.

9      A.   SCADA.

10      Q.   SCADA.  I will refer -- I will speak of the

11 SCADA revenue for a few minutes.  As you know, this is

12 an issue that AG witness, Michael Brosch, has raised.

13 Please turn to Page 59 of your surrebuttal Exhibit

14 18.0.  You say that the Company accepted -- at Line

15 1216 that the Company accepted two of Mr. Brosch's

16 three adjustments to miscellaneous operating revenues.

17 Is that the Company's position today?

18      A.   Yes.

19      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Would you agree that, in

20 general, miscellaneous operating revenues are either

21 directly assigned to either the distribution part or

22 the transmission part of the Company's business, or

23 they might be fractionally allocated between those two

24 business lines?

25      A.   Generally, yes, I would agree with that.
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1      Q.   And do miscellaneous operating revenues

2 directly impact the distribution service revenue

3 requirement because they are treated as a credit or

4 offset to the Company's overall cost of service at

5 Line 21 of Schedule FRA-1 of the formula rate

6 template?

7      A.   Correct.

8      Q.   And on the current and most recent version

9 of Schedule FRA-1, Exhibit 18.3, Line 21, it states

10 that the Company had $39.7 million, roughly, of other

11 revenues; is that correct?

12      A.   That's correct.

13      Q.   If we look at Page 29 of Exhibit 18.3, at

14 the bottom it states -- there's a note that says,

15 "Work Paper 10 provides details on the allocation from

16 total electric to electric distribution;" is that

17 correct?

18      A.   That's correct.

19      Q.   Where it says "total electric" there, does

20 that include both the FERC jurisdiction for

21 transmission and the ICC jurisdiction?

22      A.   Yes.

23      Q.   Does it refer to any other regulatory

24 jurisdiction?

25      A.   No.
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1      Q.   Okay.  If any specific element of the

2 Company's miscellaneous operating revenues were not

3 attributed to either the ICC jurisdiction or the FERC

4 jurisdiction, would it be fair to say that those

5 revenues would be thus retained for the benefit of

6 shareholders?

7      A.   I don't know that I would characterize it as

8 retained for the benefit of shareholders.  The

9 revenues would either be assigned to one jurisdiction

10 or another, generally speaking, and within the

11 constraints of the formula rate-making process and the

12 distribution revenue requirement, that's one

13 consideration whether revenues are applied.  And

14 another consideration, of course, is FERC Attachment

15 O, whether, within that formula process, revenues are

16 applied.  And, in addition, you know, the revenues

17 could be applied to other aspects of ICC jurisdiction

18 besides delivery service.  I think you would need to

19 look at not only the revenues, but operating expenses

20 of the Company and look at the broad picture of, you

21 know, what -- one, what are the constraints from a

22 rate-making process, both the FERC and the ICC, and,

23 also, you know, whether revenues or operating expenses

24 are actually included or within revenue requirement

25 calculations.
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1      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  At Line 1231 of Page 59

2 on your surrebuttal again, you state that "AIC intends

3 to explore whether the appropriate revenues," and I

4 believe you're referring to SCADA revenues, can be

5 credited to ratepayers under the formula in the

6 Company's next FERC jurisdiction filing."  Can we

7 conclude from this statement that the Company has not

8 yet credited any of these revenues in calculating its

9 FERC transmission service rates?

10      A.   Yes.  I stated that in my rebuttal

11 testimony.

12      Q.   What would you estimate is the likelihood

13 that the SCADA revenues will be credited to ratepayers

14 in the next FERC filing?

15      A.   I believe I indicated in my rebuttal that

16 what we would be exploring would be whether there is a

17 way to include the revenues at issue in the next FERC

18 filing.  I also indicated in rebuttal that we're

19 talking about 2012 revenues here, and I indicated that

20 we filed an Attachment O for actual 2011 data.  We

21 then switched to a forward-looking 2013 test year, so

22 the amount of 2012 revenue for that the specific

23 calendar year, there's no way to get that reflected in

24 Attachment O because it's for 2012.

25           To the extent similar revenues, such as the
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1 SCADA revenues, are referred (phonetic) in 2013, we

2 would be exploring whether we can include those in

3 Attachment O, and we have started that discussion

4 internally to begin that analysis.

5      Q.   Okay.  On Page 60 of your surrebuttal, Line

6 1249, you state that Mr. Brosch's allocation of

7 92.06 percent of the fees from vacating circuits under

8 SCADA is arbitrary and that the evidence supports the

9 Company's proposal to assign or allocate zero percent

10 of SCADA revenues to electric distribution.  What

11 evidence are you referring to there at Line 1251?

12      A.   The evidence is the rebuttal and surrebuttal

13 testimony that I provided in response to data

14 requests.  I've indicated that the revenues are from

15 transmission, transmission data through SCADA.  That's

16 the purpose of the revenue, and so, clearly, if the

17 purpose of the revenue is transmission-related, then

18 it can also be distribution-related.

19      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  I have one more question

20 that I forgot to ask a while ago when I was asking

21 about the modification to Schedule FRC-2 of the

22 template for the implementation of the new

23 depreciation rates.  Is there going to be that same

24 adjustment every year in the Company's formula rate

25 updates going forward?
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1      A.   No.  We had indicated previously that

2 depreciation rates are conducted approximately every

3 five years, so the only time that you would see an

4 adjustment would be at the time of the new

5 depreciation rate study, and that adjustment could be

6 positive or negative.  It's obviously positive in this

7 case.  Depreciation rates, by account, can go up or

8 down based upon the results of the study, and they, in

9 fact, do within this study.  On a positive basis, they

10 are increasing this time.

11      Q.   Will line -- sorry.  I've got a second

12 question.  Will Line 8A disappear or have zeros next

13 year?

14      A.   If approved, Line 8A would stay in the

15 template, because that would be the approved template,

16 and it would show zeros next year.

17      Q.   Okay.  The very last thing I'd like to do

18 with counsel's permission is introduce another cross

19 exhibit.  I have no questions for Mr. Stafford about

20 it.  The cross is a series of data request responses

21 from 13-0192, the gas case, regarding Metro East.  The

22 responses were provided yesterday by the Company.

23 Would that be all right?

24           MR. STURTEVANT:  Can I see them?

25           MR. DOSHI:  Sure.
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1           JUDGE YODER:  You have no more questions for

2 Mr. Stafford?

3           MR. DOSHI:  That's correct, Your Honor.  I

4 have no more questions for Mr. Stafford.

5           JUDGE YODER:  Mr. Stafford, you can step

6 down.  We'll take care of this without you.

7           MR. STURTEVANT:  We are going to do redirect

8 after lunch.

9           JUDGE YODER:  Never mind, then.  Are you

10 moving for 5, 6 and 7?

11           MR. DOSHI:  Did I move earlier for Cross

12 Exhibit 5.  No?  I'd like to move now for the

13 admission of AG Cross Exhibits 5, which was the

14 depreciation study done by Gannett Fleming; AG Cross

15 Exhibit 6, which consists of Work Paper C-2.23A from

16 the initial filing, the Company's response to Staff

17 Data Request JMO3.05R and attachments and the

18 Company's response to Staff Data Request JMO14.01 and

19 attachment.  And, finally, I'd like to move for the

20 admission of AG Cross Exhibit 7, which consists of the

21 following Data Request Responses from the Company,

22 which are also cut and pasted from Staff data requests

23 or, rather, responses to Staff data requests in the

24 gas case, 13-0192, but I'll just read the Data Request

25 heading from this case.  So those are the Company's
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1 responses to AG 6.01, AG 6.02 and attachment, AG 6.02.

2 AG 8.01, AG 8.02, AG 8.03, AG 8.04, AG 8.05, AG 8.06,

3 AG 8.07, AG 8.08, AG 8.09, AG 8.10 and attachment,

4 then Work Paper B-9A from the Company's initial filing

5 in this case, and Work Paper B-9B from the Company's

6 initial filing in this case.  And that's the end of AG

7 Cross Exhibit 7.

8           JUDGE YODER:  Any objection to the admission

9 of those three AG Cross Exhibits?

10           MR. KENNEDY:  Could we have a minute on AG

11 Cross Exhibit 7?  There's a couple here we haven't

12 seen.

13           JUDGE YODER:  All right.

14           MR. KENNEDY:  The Company has no objection

15 to the exhibits identified.

16           JUDGE YODER:  AG's current Exhibits 5, 6,

17 and 7 will admitted into evidence in this docket.  And

18 then we will address the admissibility of

19 Mr. Stafford's testimony following redirect, and we

20 will adjourn until 2:00.

21           MR. DOSHI:  Your Honor, did I move earlier

22 for the admission AG Cross Exhibits 1 and 2?

23           JUDGE YODER:  Yes.

24           MR. DOSHI:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.

25           (Whereupon a break was taken.)
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1           JUDGE YODER:  Back on the record.

2 Mr. Stafford is back on the stand.  You remain sworn

3 under oath.  Is there any redirect of Mr. Stafford?

4           MR. STURTEVANT:  There is, Your Honor.

5           JUDGE YODER:  All right.

6                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION

7 QUESTIONS BY MR. STURTEVANT:

8      Q.   Mr. Stafford, do you recall you were being

9 cross-examined by staff counsel this morning regarding

10 the Data Request 13.06, and the questions regarding

11 when adjustments can be made on work papers to the

12 formula template?  Do you recall that line of

13 questioning?

14      A.   I do.

15      Q.   And do you have any clarification to add

16 regarding when adjustments can be made to a -- when

17 adjustments can be made on the work papers?

18      A.   Adjustments can be made on the work papers

19 if they be accommodated in the Commission-approved

20 formula rate template.  In this proceeding, there have

21 been a number of adjustments that have been proposed,

22 such as the second capital calculation appreciation of

23 rate change that cannot be accommodated in the formula

24 rate template, and that's in contrast to Dockets 1201,

25 120293, where the Commission order adjustments could
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1 be accommodated in the approved formula rate template.

2      Q.   Thank you, Mr. Stafford.  Next, Mr.

3 Stafford, I want to direct your attention -- if you

4 recall, you were asked to look at two items from the

5 Company's Part 285 schedules, marked as AG Cross

6 Exhibit 1 and AG Cross Exhibit 2.  That was Schedule

7 C8 and C21.  I would direct your attention to Line 5

8 of Schedule C21.  Were you present for the cross

9 examination of -- well, let me back up.  You recall

10 the introduction of those two cross exhibits, correct?

11      A.   Correct.

12      Q.   And were you present yesterday for the cross

13 examination of Mr. Kennedy?

14      A.   Yes.

15      Q.   Do you recall some discussion regarding

16 public relations expense amounts from 2011 versus

17 2012?

18      A.   I do.

19           MS. SATTER:  I'm going to object, because I

20 believe this outside the scope of cross.  Mr. Kennedy

21 was not able to answer questions.  All we did with

22 Mr. Stafford was ask him to verify that the exhibits

23 were what they were purported to be.

24           MR. STURTEVANT:  Well, I believe yesterday,

25 Your Honor, there was were questions raised that
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1 Mr. Kennedy didn't know the answer to, and we

2 suggested that Mr. Stafford might be able to, in part

3 because Mr. Stafford was the one who prepared the

4 schedules.  I think it's appropriate for Mr. Stafford

5 to be given an opportunity on redirect to explain the

6 schedules that the AG is moving to enter through him.

7           MS. SATTER:  Well, we didn't ask Mr.

8 Stafford these questions.  We asked Mr. Kennedy.  We

9 did not present these questions to this witness, so it

10 seems to me it's additional direct.

11           MR. STURTEVANT:  Well, I believe the

12 questions to Mr. Kennedy that were ultimately referred

13 to the need for Mr. Stafford to verify were related to

14 the specific line item in Item 5.  Mr. Stafford is

15 prepared to offer an explanation, which I think would

16 be helpful for the purposes of this proceeding.

17           JUDGE YODER:  I will sustain the objection.

18 As the AG indicated, they, for whatever reason, did

19 not choose to cross him on that exhibit, so I will

20 sustain the objection.

21      Q.   (By Mr. Sturtevant) Lastly, Mr. Stafford, do

22 you recall testimony before lunch regarding your

23 surrebuttal testimony and changes to the formula

24 template A3, Lines 21 through 31?

25      A.   I do.
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1      Q.   Okay.  And do you recall as part of that

2 cross examination, there is some discussion as to

3 whether the amounts were all becoming lower or whether

4 some of them were increasing?

5      A.   I recall that.

6      Q.   Okay.  And you indicated that although your

7 testimony said the amounts were lower in cross

8 examination, you indicated that, in fact, some of the

9 amounts were increasing.  Do you recall that?

10      A.   I do.

11      Q.   And does it make any difference to your

12 conclusion whether the amounts are lowering as opposed

13 to simply changing on Lines 21 through 31?

14      A.   No.  Whether the amounts are lowering or

15 increasing, they are changing as a result of AG's

16 proposal to use average rate base, and that's really

17 what I was trying to discuss in my testimony, is the

18 fact that they are changing.  I didn't believe it was

19 appropriate that they would be changing.

20           MR. STURTEVANT:  Thank you, Mr. Stafford.

21 No further questions.

22           JUDGE YODER:  Any recross?

23           MR. DOSHI:  Yes, Your Honor, I have one

24 question.

25           JUDGE YODER:  All right.
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1                        RECROSS EXAMINATION

2 QUESTIONS BY MR. DOSHI:

3      Q.   Mr. Stafford, with Mr. Sturtevant, you

4 indicated that adjustments could be made to work

5 papers of the various schedules to the formula rate

6 template; is that correct?

7      A.   Correct.

8      Q.   Earlier today, I asked you whether the

9 proposed changes to the depreciation rate on projected

10 plants additions could be better explained through

11 work papers on Schedule FRC-2.  Could the Company

12 modify its template to better explain the depreciation

13 rate change?

14           MR. STURTEVANT:  Objection, Your Honor.  I

15 think it's outside the scope of the redirect.

16           MR. DOSHI:  If I heard Mr. Sturtevant's

17 question correctly, the question was whether

18 adjustments could be made to the work papers, if it

19 could be accommodated within the formula rate

20 template?

21           MR. STURTEVANT:  Well, my question was when

22 the adjustments could be made to the work papers and

23 was there a clarification as to when those could be

24 made.  The clarification as to when those could be

25 made was that they have to be consistent with the
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1 template.  There was no question -- none of my

2 questions related to the question of could the work

3 papers be clearer or different.  It was just what was

4 the limitation on changes within them.

5           JUDGE YODER:  Sustained.  Do you have any

6 other questions, Mr. Doshi?

7           MR. DOSHI:  No, I don't.

8           JUDGE YODER:  Staff?

9           MR. LANNON:  Nothing, Your Honor.

10           JUDGE YODER:  Is there any objection to the

11 admission of Ameren Exhibit 1.0, the accompanying

12 Exhibit 1.0S, with accompanying Exhibits 9.0, revised

13 9.1 through 9.7, 9.8, both confidential and public

14 versions, or 18.0, which would be Second Revised, I

15 believe, filed today?

16           MR. STURTEVANT:  I believe today, yes, Your

17 Honor.

18           JUDGE YODER:  And Exhibit 18.1 through 18.5,

19 18.7 and 18.8.  Hearing nothing, those will be

20 admitted.  Thank you, Mr. Stafford.

21           Does Staff wish to put Ms. Pearce on.

22           MS. SWAN:  Yes.

23           JUDGE YODER:  Off the record.

24           (Whereupon an off-the-record discussion was

25 held.)
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1           JUDGE ALBERS:  Back on the record.  I see

2 Mr. Pearce is on the stand.  You were sworn.

3           MS. PIERCE:  Yes.

4           JUDGE ALBERS:  Ms. Swan?

5           MS. SWAN:  Thank you.  Just, Your Honor, as

6 a preliminary matter, I'd like to say what I'm going

7 to do is a little bit unexpected.  I'd like to point

8 out that I will be attempting to move into the record

9 as an exhibit that has not been included on Staff's

10 list of exhibits.  I would like to label it as ICC

11 Staff Exhibit 8.0.  I believe Mr. Lannon is handing

12 those out right now.  It's the same document that we

13 discussed yesterday that did not come in under the

14 cross of Ms. Voiles.  I think there are a few reasons

15 I would like to move this document in at this point,

16 and I think I can get into that now if you'd like, or

17 I can wait and sort of set things up to discuss.

18           JUDGE ALBERS:  Why don't you go ahead and

19 set things up, and we'll see how it comes together.

20           MS. SWAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

21                         BONITA PEARCE.

22 having been previous duly sworn, testified as follows:

23                        CROSS EXAMINATION

24 QUESTIONS BY MS. SWAN:

25      Q.   Ms. Pearce, can you please state your full
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1 name for the record and spell your last name?

2      A.   Bonita A. Pearce, P-E-A-R-C-E.

3      Q.   And who is your employer, and what is your

4 business address?

5      A.   I'm employed by the Illinois Commerce

6 Commission at 527 East Capital Avenue, Springfield,

7 Illinois 62701.

8      Q.   And what is your position at the Illinois

9 Commerce Commission?

10      A.   I'm an accountant within the Accounting

11 Department of the Financial Analysis Division.

12      Q.   Did you prepare a written exhibit for

13 submittal in this proceeding?

14      A.   Yes, I did.

15      Q.   Do you have before you a document which has

16 been marked for identification as ICC Staff Exhibit

17 3.0, a public and confidential version, which consists

18 of a public cover page, a table of contents, 15 pages

19 of narrative testimony, Schedules 3.01 through 3.04,

20 and entitled "The Direct Testimony of Bonita Pearce?

21      A.   Yes.

22      Q.   Do you have before you a document which has

23 been marked for identification as ICC Staff Exhibit

24 8.0 which consists of a cover page, table of contents,

25 18 pages of narrative testimony, Schedule 8.01 through
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1 8.04 and Attachment A, and it's entitled "The Rebuttal

2 Testimony of Bonita Pearce"?

3      A.   Yes.

4      Q.   And do you have before you a document which

5 has been marked as ICC Staff Exhibit 8.1, which

6 consists of four pages of questions and answers and

7 which has been passed out to everyone in the room?

8      A.   Yes, I have it.

9      Q.   And did you prepare these documents for

10 presentation in this matter?

11      A.   Yes, I did.

12      Q.   And do you have any corrections to make to

13 ICC Staff Exhibits 3.0, 8.0 or 8.01 -- excuse me, 8.1?

14      A.   Yes.  Pursuant my response to Data Request

15 AIC Staff 20.01, I am withdrawing my adjustment on ICC

16 Staff Exhibit 8.0, Schedule 8.03.  In addition, I have

17 revised my adjustment on ICC Staff Exhibit 8.0,

18 Schedule 8.04 to remove four items that are included

19 in ICC witness, Ms. Ebrey's, Staff Exhibit 6.0 as

20 noted by Ameren witness Mr. Pate (phonetic) and Ameren

21 Exhibit 19.0, Page 27, Lines 548 through 557.  These

22 revisions will be reflected an the appendix to Staff's

23 initial brief.

24      Q.   Do you have any additional corrections to

25 make to ICC Staff Exhibits 3.0, 8.0 or 8.1?
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1      A.   No.

2      Q.   Is the information contained in ICC Staff

3 Exhibits 3.0 and 8.0 and 8.1, as corrected, true and

4 correct to the best of your knowledge?

5      A.   Yes.

6      Q.   If I were to ask the same questions as set

7 forth in ICC Staff Exhibits 3.0, 8.0 and 8.1, as

8 corrected, would your responses be the same today?

9      A.   Yes.

10           MS. SWAN:  Your Honors, I move for admission

11 into evidence ICC Staff Exhibits 3.0, 8.0 and 8.1.  I

12 note for the record that these are the same documents

13 that were filed via e-Docket on July 3rd, 2013 for

14 Staff Exhibit 3.0 and August 26, 2013 for 8.0, and,

15 respectively, Staff Exhibit 8.1 has not been filed on

16 e-Docket, but pending your ruling, we can certainly

17 file that as appropriate.

18           JUDGE ALBERS:  We will discuss the

19 admissibility in a minute.  I did have one or two

20 clarifying questions.  Does anybody else have

21 questions?

22           MS. SWAN:  My understanding is that other

23 parties have waived.

24           MR. KENNEDY:  Well, if we could speak to

25 that.  We are going to object to the admission of 8.1,



282

1 ICC Staff 8.1.  And we waived cross of Ms. Pearce,

2 understanding that her prefiled testimony would be

3 what was going to be the testimony.  Assuming this

4 were to come into evidence -- we don't think it

5 should, but assuming that it were, we are going to

6 move to cross Ms. Pearce, and we are not going to be

7 prepared to do that today.  We are going to have to

8 come back and do that tomorrow.

9           MS. SWAN:  We certainly understand that, and

10 we would accommodate the other party to the extent

11 that if they wish to cross on the Exhibit 8.1, we

12 would not object.  We don't think there's any

13 rationale for crossing on any other exhibits, and the

14 parties have already waived those, but we would object

15 to the limited cross on that document.

16           MR. KENNEDY:  Again, we don't think that the

17 evidence should come in, but to your question of

18 whether any parties have questions for Ms. Pearce,

19 it's tied up to your ruling on the admissibility of

20 Staff Exhibit 8.1.

21           JUDGE ALBERS:  What, in particular, was your

22 objection to 8.1?

23           MR. KENNEDY:  These were data responses that

24 were filed and were not included in Ms. Pearce's

25 testimony, and we don't think it's appropriate for
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1 Staff witnesses to come to the hearing room and

2 attempt to supplement that testimony that's been

3 prefiled with data responses that have been -- that

4 they served on the Company in this case.  I mean, they

5 are out-of-court statements.  They're hearsay, and the

6 Company's position will we that Staff cannot come to

7 the stand and bring additional admissions of their own

8 and seek admission of those statements at the hearing.

9           MS. SWAN:  If I may address that, I think,

10 first, it's not hearsay.  Ms. Pearce wrote these

11 responses, or they were written under her control.

12 And I think to the other points, even the Company

13 seems to indicate that it believes the record is

14 incomplete on this issue.  Ms. Voiles speaks to that

15 at several points in her rebuttal testimony, which is

16 Exhibit 16.0 for Ameren.  And, additionally, Ameren

17 specifically asked Staff to explain responses to AIC

18 to Staff Data Request Set A, which is part of the

19 record, and Staff complied.  I'd like to set out the

20 time frame, if I may.  Ameren sent the data request at

21 issue here to Staff on September 3rd, which was after

22 Staff's submission of its rebuttal testimony.  Staff

23 responded on September 10th.  On September 11th, we

24 received an e-mail from Ameren indicating that the

25 response was insufficient to the extent that Ameren
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1 was requesting supplemental responses or they were

2 intending to move to strike Ms. Bonita Pearce's entire

3 testimony on this point, so Staff complied with this

4 request and submitted some responses, which included

5 the response at issue in ICC Staff Exhibit 8.1 on

6 September 12th.

7           So in light of the request from Ameren, we

8 think that it's reasonable to move this response into

9 the record to supplement Staff's rebuttal testimony on

10 this issue and really complete the record.

11           MR. KENNEDY:  If I could briefly address

12 some of those points.  On the hearsay point, I mean,

13 these are hearsay, out-of-court statements.  They were

14 not included in her testimony.  There is a reason

15 witnesses don't come to the stand with additional DRs

16 that they have sponsored during discovery and asked

17 for the admission of those along with their direct

18 testimony, because that doesn't happen.  There are

19 admissions that can be offered into evidence by the

20 party against whom the admission was supplied, which

21 in this case was Ameren.

22           Had we received these responses and

23 determined that we had to do introduce them into

24 evidence, that would have been appropriate for us to

25 use as a cross exhibit for Mrs. Pearce, but it's not
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1 appropriate for Ms. Pearce to bring them and

2 supplement her own testimony with those out-of-court

3 statements.

4           As to the timing of discovery, we agree that

5 we did ask Mr. Pearce questions.  These questions were

6 sent after her testimony was filed, and that happens

7 in every case, and it's our right to ask questions in

8 discovery about prefiled testimony, and to the extent

9 that the DRs were not included in evidence, it's our

10 right to seek them at the admission of Ameren's cross

11 exhibits during the hearing, but it's not the witness'

12 right who drafted the DRs to presume that she can come

13 into the courtroom today and supplement her testimony

14 with evidence like this.

15           MS. SWAN:  I would say, though, that these

16 where not out-of-court statements.  We have Ms. Pearce

17 here in court today, and to the extent that Ameren

18 needs more time to collect itself and cross, Ms.

19 Pearce will be available.

20           MR. KENNEDY:  The rule of party admissions

21 is that I can enter someone else's admission as that

22 party's admission, but the party who gives the

23 admission cannot come into court and offer those

24 admissions.  Had we crossed Ms. Pearce today, her

25 counsel would have been more than able to come to the
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1 court and ask for redirect on that, but that's not

2 happened in this case.

3           MS. SWAN:  Well, we're not offering this as

4 an admission.  We're just offering it as evidence of

5 Ms. Pearce's opinions.

6           JUDGE ALBERS:  First, just so the record is

7 clear, Staff Exhibit 8.1 is identical to what was

8 offered yesterday as Staff Cross Exhibit 3.  I want to

9 make sure the record is clear on that.  And Judge

10 Yoder and I are in agreement that we will admit Staff

11 Exhibit 3, 3.01 through 3.04, 8, 8.01 through 8.04 and

12 Attachment A, and then in light of the arguments, we

13 would not admit 8.1.

14           MR. KENNEDY:  Thank you, Your Honor.  We

15 will have no cross for Ms. Pearce.

16           MR. LANNON:  Your Honor, I'm sorry.  I don't

17 mean to push you, but are you ruling on the

18 inadmissibility of 8.1 on any specific grounds?

19           JUDGE ALBERS:  We don't believe it's

20 appropriate, given that the parties have already

21 submitted testimony and then show up at the hearing

22 today in an attempt to get additional documents into

23 the record, particularly given what happened yesterday

24 with this particular document.

25           MR. LANNON:  Understood.  Thank you, Your
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1 Honor.

2           JUDGE ALBERS:  As far as my one or two

3 questions for Ms. Pearce, anything else before we go

4 to that?

5           MR. KENNEDY:  No, Your Honor.

6           JUDGE ALBERS:  They are not about Staff

7 Cross Exhibit 30.

8           Very generally, Ms. Pearce, as part of your

9 review, you're looking at employee credit card

10 records; is that correct?

11           THE WITNESS:  Yes.

12           JUDGE ALBERS:  How many records for how many

13 employees did you review?

14           THE WITNESS:  I selected a sample of four

15 months from the year 2012 for certain employees

16 over -- I believe it was $30,000, and I believe I got

17 a sample of 12 months' reports back.

18           JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  Do you remember how

19 many employees that included?

20           THE WITNESS:  My sample --

21           JUDGE ALBERS:  Right.

22           THE WITNESS: -- was, I believe, 12 employees

23 out of the population.

24           JUDGE ALBERS:  I'm sorry.  Thank you.

25 Twelve employees, and it covered four months of their
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1 expenses in 2012?

2           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  They submit monthly

3 expense reports.

4           JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  And then do you know

5 how many employees, overall, have company credit

6 cards?

7           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I believe it's 1,517.

8           JUDGE ALBERS:  Okay.  And you said the

9 spending limit was $30,000, you looked at?

10           THE WITNESS:  I believe that was the limit

11 in my data request.  I think that there was another

12 limit higher than that, 60,000, but the limits vary.

13 My sample was limited to, I believe, those people with

14 a limit of 30,000.

15           JUDGE ALBERS:  Is that 30,000 annually?

16           THE WITNESS:  No, per month.

17           JUDGE ALBERS:  Per month?  Okay.

18           JUDGE YODER:  I'd like to clarify that.

19 Their limit on their credit card was 30,000, or they

20 spent more than 30,000?

21           THE WITNESS:  The limit would be 30,000.

22           JUDGE YODER:  Not that they necessarily

23 spend 30,000?

24           THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

25           JUDGE ALBERS:  They can go up to 30,000?
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1           THE WITNESS:  That's my understanding.

2           JUDGE ALBERS:  Redirect on that?

3           MS. SWAN:  No, thank you.

4           JUDGE ALBERS:  Thank you.  Anything else for

5 today, then?

6           MS. SWAN:  We'd like to admit the testimony

7 of Steven Knepler.  We filed an --

8           MR. KENNEDY:  Can we go off the record for a

9 second?

10           JUDGE ALBERS:  Off the record.

11           (Whereupon an off-the-record discussion was

12 held.)

13           JUDGE ALBERS:  Ready to go?

14           MS. SWAN:  On July 3rd, 2013, Staff filed on

15 e-Docket the direct testimony of Steven R. Knepler,

16 which is marked as ICC Staff Exhibit 5.0 and includes

17 Schedule 5.01 through 5.3 and Appendix A.  On July 8,

18 2013, Staff filed on e-Docket an errata ICC Staff

19 Exhibit 5.0, which corrected Schedule 5.01 and which

20 is labeled Schedule 5.01 Supp.  On August 26, 2013,

21 Staff filed on e-Docket the rebuttal testimony of

22 Steven R. Knepler, which included Schedules 10.01

23 through 10.04 and Attachments A through E.  Staff

24 filed on e-Docket this morning, the affidavit of

25 Steven R. Knepler in support of those documents, which
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1 was marked as ICC Staff Exhibit 10.1.  Staff moved for

2 admission into the record ICC Staff Exhibits 5.0, 10.0

3 and 10.1.

4           JUDGE ALBERS:  And just so I'm clear, the

5 original 5.01 is not being offered.  Just the 5.01S?

6           MS. SWAN:  Yes.

7           JUDGE ALBERS:  Any objection to that?

8           MR. KENNEDY:  No objection.

9           JUDGE ALBERS:  Hearing no objection, then

10 Staff Exhibit 5.0, 5.01S, 5.02, 5.03, Attachment A,

11 10.0, 10.01 through and including 10.04, with

12 Attachments A through E and 10.1 are all admitted.

13           MS. SWAN:  Thank you.

14           JUDGE ALBERS:  Any other matters like that

15 for today?

16           MR. KENNEDY:  We are going to ask to confirm

17 the start time for tomorrow is 1:00, after the

18 Commission's meeting.  We only have the one witness

19 scheduled for cross.

20           JUDGE YODER:  Go off the record for a

21 second.

22           (Whereupon an off-the-record discussion was

23 held.)

24           JUDGE ALBERS:  Back on the record.  We will

25 continue this to 1:00 tomorrow, September 18.
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1 Anything else?  Thank you.

2      (WHEREIN, the hearing was adjourned at 2:37 p.m.,

3 to be continued on September 18, 2013 at 1:00 p.m.)

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



292

1                     CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

2           I, Brenda Orsborn, a Certified Court

3 Reporter (MO CCR No. 914) and Certified Shorthand

4 Reporter (IL CSR No. 084-003460), do hereby certify

5 that the proceedings that appears in the foregoing

6 Illinois Commerce Commission Hearing was taken by me

7 to the best of my ability and thereafter reduced to

8 typewriting under my direction; that I am neither

9 counsel for, related to, nor employed by any of the

10 parties to the action in which this Record of

11 Non-Appearance was taken, and further, that I am not a

12 relative or employee of any attorney or counsel

13 employed by the parties thereto, nor financially or

14 otherwise interested in the outcome of the action.

15

16                            ______________________
                               Brenda Orsborn

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25


